

HOKKAIDO UNIVERSITY

Title	Chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics : in vitro effects of local anesthetics on cell viability and apoptosis in cultured canine articular chondrocytes
Author(s)	Mwale, Carol
Citation	北海道大学. 博士(獣医学) 甲第15578号
Issue Date	2023-06-30
DOI	10.14943/doctoral.k15578
Doc URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2115/90416
Туре	theses (doctoral)
File Information	Carol_Mwale.pdf



## Chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics: *In vitro* effects of local anesthetics on cell viability and apoptosis in cultured canine articular chondrocytes

(局所麻酔薬の軟骨毒性に関する研究:培養軟骨細胞にお ける局所麻酔薬の細胞障害性とアポトーシスについて)

**Carol MWALE** 

## Chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics: *In vitro* effects of local anesthetics on cell viability and apoptosis in cultured canine articular chondrocytes

A Dissertation for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

### **Carol MWALE**

Laboratory of Veterinary Surgery Department of Clinical Sciences Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan

### **Table of contents**

Table of contents	i
Abbreviationsi	V
List of publications related to the dissertation	<b>/i</b>
List of figuresv	ii
1. General introduction	1
2. Chapter 1: In vitro chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations in cultured	
canine articular chondrocytes	9
2.1. Summary	9
2.2. Introduction 1	0
2.3. Materials and Methods 1	2
2.3.1. Chondrocyte isolation and culture1	2
2.3.2. Chondrocyte treatment	3
2.3.3. Live/dead assay 1	3
2.3.4. MTT assay 1	4
2.3.5. CCK-8 assay	4
2.3.6. Statistical analysis 1	4
2.4. Results 1	5
2.4.1. Bupivacaine at low concentrations compromises cell membrane integrity and	
morphology in a concentration- and time-dependent manner - Live/dead Assay 1	5
2.4.2. Bupivacaine at low concentrations is cytotoxic to canine articular chondrocytes	
- MTT Assay 1	5

2.4.3. Bupivacaine at low concentrations reduces cell viability as validated by the	
CCK-8 Assay	16
2.5. Discussion	21
3. Chapter 2: In vitro effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cell	l
viability and caspase activity in cultured canine articular chondrocytes	28
3.1. Summary	28
3.2. Introduction	29
3.3. Materials and Methods	31
3.3.1. Chondrocyte isolation and culture	31
3.3.2. Chondrocyte treatment	32
3.3.3. Live/dead assay	32
3.3.4. MTT assay	33
3.3.5. CCK-8 assay	33
3.3.6. Evaluation of caspase activity	33
3.3.7. Inhibition of caspase activity	34
3.3.8. Statistical analysis	35
3.4. Results	36
3.4.1. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte	
viability and morphology - Live/dead Assay	36
3.4.2. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on mitochondrial	
dehydrogenase - MTT Assay	36
3.4.3. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cellular	
dehydrogenase activity - CCK-8 Assay	37

3.4.4. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase-3, caspase-
8, and caspase-9 activity
3.4.5. Effect of specific caspase inhibition on local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity
– MTT assay
3.4.6. Effect of specific caspase inhibition on local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity
– CCK-8 assay
3.5. Discussion
4. General discussion
5. Acknowledgements
6. References

## Abbreviations

%	Percent
μΙ	Microliter
μm	Micrometer
μΜ	Micromolar
3-D	Three-dimensional
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Bup	Bupivacaine
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CCK-8	Cell counting Kit-8
cm	Centimeter
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
Fig.	Figure
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
hr	Hour(s)
IV	Intravenous
Lev	Levobupivacaine
min	Minute(s)
ml	Milliliter
mm	Millimeter

MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
MTT	3-(4,5-dimehylthiazolyl-2)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
Na+	Sodium ions
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Sodium bicarbonate
No.	Number
OA	Osteoarthritis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
Rop	Ropivacaine
SD	Standard deviation

#### List of publications related to the dissertation

The contents of Chapter 1 have been accepted for publication in *The Japanese Journal of Veterinary Research (JJVR)*.

**Mwale C**, Sunaga T, Wang Y, Bwalya EC, Wijekoon S, Kim S, Okumura M. *In vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations in cultured canine articular chondrocytes. *Jpn J Vet Res*, in press.

The contents of Chapter 2 have been accepted for publication in *The Journal of Veterinary Medical Science (JVMS)*.

**Mwale C**, Sunaga T, Wang Y, Bwalya EC, Wijekoon S, Kim S, Okumura M. *In vitro* effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cell viability and caspase activity in cultured canine articular chondrocytes. *J Vet Med Sci*, in press.

## List of figures

<b>Fig. 1</b> : Schematic representation of the mode of action of local anesthetics
Fig. 2: Schematic representation of the basic molecular structure of local anesthetic agents2
<b>Fig. 3:</b> Comparative molecular structures of bupivacaine and ropivacaine
Fig. 4: Effects of low bupivacaine concentrations on cell membrane integrity and morphology
- Live/dead Assay
Fig. 5: MTT assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine treatment on chondrocyte
viability19
Fig. 6: CCK-8 assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine treatment on chondrocyte
viability20
Fig. 7: Live/dead assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and
ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability and morphology
Fig. 8: MTT and CCK-8 assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and
ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability
Fig. 9: Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase-3, caspase-8, and
caspase-9 activity42
Fig. 10: MTT assay results showing the effects of caspase inhibition on local anesthetic
chondrotoxicity43
Fig. 11: CCK-8 assay results showing the effects of caspase inhibition on local anesthetic
chondrotoxicity

#### 1. General introduction

Local anesthetics are a group of drugs that are used to induce analgesia and loss of sensation in restricted areas of the body (Borer, 2006; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b, 2020a). Their mode of action is through the reversible blockade of voltage-gated sodium channels (**Fig. 1**) in excitable tissues; they bind to open channels and convert these into an inactivated or closed state which inhibits the influx of sodium ions (Na+) into the cell, thereby interrupting neural conduction (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Becker & Reed, 2006; Cox et al., 2003; Taylor & McLeod, 2020). As a result, local anesthetics prevent the propagation of the pain stimulus, making them the only class of drugs that can fully block nociceptive impulses (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b), and they are the only means of completely eliminating pain without inducing unconsciousness (Barletta & Reed, 2019).



Fig. 1: Schematic representation of the mode of action of local anesthetics

**A**, **B**: Voltage-gated sodium channels along a neuronal lipid membrane. (**A**) shows an open sodium channel with intracellular influx of sodium ions (black arrow) during depolarization, and (**B**) shows a sodium channel blocked following intracellular binding of a local anesthetic which prevents the influx of sodium ions and conduction of nerve impulses.

Local anesthetics are weak bases which are divided into amides and esters based on their structure (Barletta & Reed, 2019). The general structure of all local anesthetic agents consists of three components (**Fig. 2**) including a lipophilic aromatic ring, an intermediate ester or amide chain, and a terminal amine (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Becker & Reed, 2006; Taylor & McLeod, 2020). The structure of the agent affects its clinical properties such as the speed of onset of action, duration of action and the potency of the drug. These properties are an important basis for the selection of the type of agent or drug that will be included in a particular protocol during anesthesia.



Fig. 2: Schematic representation of the basic molecular structure of local anesthetic agents.

Local anesthetics consist of a lipophilic aromatic ring, an intermediate ester or amide chain, and a terminal amine.

Bupivacaine is an amide-type local anesthetic that is highly lipid soluble and also has high protein-binding ability (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Becker & Reed, 2006, 2012). It is a clinically potent, long-acting drug with a slow onset of action. A solution of bupivacaine contains equal amounts of dextrorotatory (R+) and levorotatory (S-) stereoisomers, making it a racemic solution (Athar et al., 2016; Leone et al., 2008). Because of its potency and long duration of action, bupivacaine is commonly used in multiple anesthetic and analgesic protocols (Campagnol et al., 2012; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020a; Martin-Flores et al., 2019; McFadzean et al., 2021; Thomson et al., 2021). Despite its efficacy, the administration of bupivacaine carries the potential hazard of inadvertent intravascular injection, which can cause life-threatening central nervous system (CNS) and cardiovascular toxicity (Cox et al., 2003). As a result, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine, which are two relatively new long-acting local anesthetics were developed after reports of bupivacaine cardiotoxicity and neurotoxicity (Athar et al., 2016; Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011; McLeod & Burke, 2001). Levobupivacaine is the pure S(-)enantiomer of racemic bupivacaine but is less toxic to the heart and central nervous system (Glaser et al., 2002). Ropivacaine is structurally related to bupivacaine (Fig. 3) but it has a propyl (3-carbon side-chain) group on the piperidine nitrogen atom compared to bupivacaine, which has a butyl (4-carbon side-chain) group (Casati & Putzu, 2005; Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011). Similar to levobupivacaine, ropivacaine is also a pure S(-)enantiomer from the parent chiral molecule propivacaine, and was developed for the purpose of reducing potential toxicity and improving relative sensory and motor block profiles (Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011). For that reason, while levobupivacaine and ropivacaine are both long-acting, amide-type local anesthetics like bupivacaine, they have less potential for toxicity on the cardiovascular and central nervous systems in comparison; and are considered to be safer alternatives for clinical use than bupivacaine (Athar et al., 2016; Casati & Putzu, 2005; Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011; Leone et al., 2008).



Fig. 3: Comparative molecular structures of (A) bupivacaine and (B) ropivacaine (Ni et al., 2016).

Ropivacaine has a 3-carbon side-chain (propyl group) while bupivacaine has a 4-carbon side-chain (butyl group) on the tertiary amine.

The physiological and clinical characteristics of local anesthetics are determined by the pKa, lipid solubility and protein-binding ability of each drug. For example, the speed of onset, potency, and duration of action is dependent on the pKa, lipid solubility and protein binding, respectively (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). The pKa and protein binding capacity of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine are similar, while ropivacaine is much less lipophilic (Athar et al., 2016; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b; Leone et al., 2008). The pKa of a molecule represents the pH at which 50% of the molecules exist in the unionized, lipid-soluble form and 50% in the ionized, water-soluble form (Becker & Reed, 2006). The dissociation of amphipathic local anaesthetics is determined by their pKa and the pH of the tissue into which they are injected (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). It is the unionized lipid soluble molecules that can more easily, thus more rapidly, cross into the cell and the pKa of the drug dictates the proportion of molecules that are in an unionized lipid-soluble state (Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b). Therefore, time for onset of local anesthesia is directly related to the proportion of molecules that convert to the tertiary, lipid-soluble structure when exposed to physiologic pH of 7.4 (Becker & Reed, 2012; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b). If the pKa of the local anesthetics is greater than the physiologic pH, a greater proportion of the molecules exists in the quaternary, water-soluble form when injected into tissue having normal pH of 7.4 (Becker & Reed, 2006). Thus, local anesthetics with a high pKa, such as bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine that have a pKa of 8.1, have a slow onset of action. Drug potency is based on lipid solubility, with increased solubility equating to increased potency (Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b). Greater lipid solubility enables more rapid diffusion of the drug through lipid membranes to reach their site of action, and gives a greater volume of distribution (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). Local anaesthetics with high protein binding have a longer duration of action and lower bioavailability (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). Protein binding correlates with their affinity for protein within sodium channels and predicts the duration they will sustain neural blockade (Becker & Reed, 2006). Therefore, bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine having all these characteristics means they are all potent, longacting drugs with a slow onset of action; and this makes them a desirable choice for clinical applications including intra-articular injection.

Although local anesthetics have many clinical benefits, some of their applications; including intra-articular administration, have raised questions on their safety. While levobupivacaine and ropivacaine have less cardiotoxic and neurotoxic effects compared to bupivacaine, they still have the potential to cause adverse effects in other tissues and cell types. Several human and animal studies have demonstrated that bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine all have chondrotoxic effects following intra-articular administration (Adler et al., 2021; Breu, Rosenmeier, et al., 2013; Kaewpichit et al., 2019; Kürkçüoğlu et al., 2014; Özcan et al., 2017). Therefore, the use of intra-articular local anesthetics is controversial because their chondrotoxicity can potentially lead to more detrimental, rather than beneficial effects. Intraarticular administration of analgesic and anti-inflammatory drugs is a common practice in veterinary medicine, and is used for both lameness diagnosis and management of joint pain (Di Salvo et al., 2021). Intra-articular anesthetics are also beneficial for orthopedic surgical procedures that are associated with severe pain. Previous studies have shown that pre-emptive, perioperative and postoperative administration of intra-articular local anesthetics provides adequate analgesia and reduces the need for interventional administration of opioids (Brioschi et al., 2021; Dutton et al., 2014; Gaesser et al., 2020; Gurney et al., 2012). However, studies on the applications and efficacy of intra-articular local anesthetics in veterinary patients are limited. As a result, recommendations on their clinical use in terms of safe dosage, types of drug to use and appropriate length of treatment remain unclear. Consequently, there are no consensus guidelines recommending an anesthetic of choice for intra-articular use (Holder et al., 2022). Additionally, the margin of safety between chondrotoxic doses and clinically effective doses, or synovial fluid concentrations required to induce analgesia in veterinary patients remains unknown. As such, their use as intra-articular analgesics is based on the choice and judgement of individual clinicians. However, the use of local anesthetics is so routine, and adverse effects are so infrequent, that providers may overlook many of their pharmacotherapeutic principles (Becker & Reed, 2012), which can result in extra-label use of these drugs and/or extrapolation of protocols from human studies, which may not be safe or effective in animals. It is therefore necessary to have more extensive studies on their efficacy, safety, and adverse effects so as to develop and provide standard recommendations on the appropriate and safe use of intra-articular local anesthetics.

Studying the chondrotoxic effects of local anesthetics is important because they can potentially cause long-term or irreversible harmful effects on cartilage and other joint structures. For instance, the use of pain pumps in humans has been associated with the development of glenohumeral chondrolysis, which is the rapid and irreversible destruction of normal articular cartilage (Matsen & Papadonikolakis, 2013). Animal pain pump models have also shown gross cartilage necrosis after sustained exposure to local anesthetic infusion (Dragoo et al., 2008). Some studies have also indicated that local anesthetics can have delayed deleterious effects (Chu et al., 2010; Grishko et al., 2010; Özcan et al., 2017) which makes them a risk factor in the development of chronic degenerative joint conditions such as osteoarthritis (OA). Articular cartilage has no or very low ability of self-repair, and untreated lesions may lead to the development of osteoarthritis (Becerra et al., 2010). Chondrocyte dysfunction and death is a key characteristic of early osteoarthritis (Piper et al., 2011; Piper & Kim, 2008). Additionally, local anesthetics cause mitochondrial damage (Grishko et al., 2010; Johnson et al., 2004), which can contribute towards OA pathogenesis (Grishko et al., 2009). Therefore, the use of intra-articular local anesthetics can be a risk factor in the development and/or exacerbation of OA. Local anesthetics have also demonstrated cytotoxicity towards mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) (Breu et al., 2015; Breu, Eckl, et al., 2013; Dregalla et al.,

2014; Kubrova et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2017). MSCs have the potential for differentiation under specific conditions into other cell types, including cartilage, bone, and adipose tissue (Sasaki et al., 2019). Stem cells are most commonly used in clinical veterinary medicine for therapeutic applications for the treatment of musculoskeletal injuries such as repair of cartilage in horses and dogs (Fortier & Travis, 2011; Prządka et al., 2021). Intra-articular local anesthetics may be applied during stem cell injections to reduce patient discomfort (Kubrova et al., 2021) and this can potentially have a negative impact on the successful application of stem cell therapy for joint diseases. Moreover, local anesthetics have also been shown to have cytotoxic effects on other cell types found within joints including tenocytes, synoviocytes and fibroblasts (Adler et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2017), which indicates that their adverse effects can potentially extend to other joint structures such as the synovium, ligaments and tendons which can subsequently affect chondrocyte survival. On the other hand, understanding the mechanisms involved in local anesthetic chondrotoxicity can possibly expand their clinical applications and can contribute towards understanding their effects on other cell types. While they are widely known for their blockade of voltage-gated sodium channels, evidence of their effects on other biomolecular processes such as apoptosis demonstrates their potential for other clinical indications in addition to anesthesia and analgesia. For example, local anesthetics have anti-cancer (Chiu et al., 2015; Jayaram et al., 2019) and anti-microbial effects (Adler et al., 2017; Sams et al., 2012), which shows that their cytotoxicity can be beneficial in particular clinical applications. Therefore, understanding the chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics and the mechanisms involved has many clinical implications and can contribute towards advancing their medical use.

The purpose of the present thesis was to evaluate the *in vitro* chondrotoxic effects of long-acting local anesthetics including bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine in cultured canine articular chondrocytes; and to elucidate the biomolecular pathways involved in

local anesthetic induced chondrotoxicity. The aim was to provide recommendations on the safe use of intra-articular local anesthetics in veterinary clinical applications. The first chapter investigated the *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations based on previously determined synovial fluid concentrations following intra-articular injection in dogs. This was a preliminary study to evaluate whether different concentrations of bupivacaine would decrease chondrocyte viability after 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment. The second chapter evaluated the comparative chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine and assessed their effects on caspase activity. The objectives of these studies were (1) to investigate the *in vitro* effects of long-acting local anesthetics on articular chondrocyte viability and (2) to elucidate the apoptotic pathways involved in their chondrotoxicity.

# 2. Chapter 1: *In vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations in cultured canine articular chondrocytes

#### 2.1. Summary

Bupivacaine is a long-acting local anesthetic that is used in various anesthetic and/or analgesic protocols, including intra-articular injection for pain management during orthopedic procedures. The purpose of the study done in chapter 1 was to evaluate the *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at concentrations similar to in vivo synovial fluid concentrations in canine articular chondrocytes. A controlled in vitro experimental study was used. Third passage (P3) chondrocytes in monolayer culture were treated with bupivacaine at 0.25, 0.125, 0.062, 0.031 and 0.016% (2.5, 1.25, 0.62, 0.31 and 0.16 mg/ml, respectively). The control was treated with only growth medium. Chondrocyte viability was evaluated after 1, 6 and 24 hr using the live/dead assay; 3-(4,5-dimehylthiazolyl-2)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay; and Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) assay. Bupivacaine at 0.25% and 0.125% significantly decreased chondrocyte viability compared to the control at all treatment time-points (P <0.001). Bupivacaine at 0.062% was chondrotoxic at all treatment time-points with the MTT assay (P < 0.001) but only after 6 and 24 hr with the live/dead and CCK-8 assays (P < 0.001). After 24 hr, 0.031% bupivacaine caused cell clustering with the live/dead assay and significantly decreased cell viability with the MTT (P < 0.001) and CCK-8 (P = 0.001) assays. Bupivacaine at 0.016% did not significantly decrease cell viability at any of the treatment timepoints. These findings indicate that bupivacaine has in vitro chondrotoxic effects on canine articular chondrocytes at concentrations that are similar to in vivo synovial fluid concentrations, especially with prolonged exposure.

#### **2.2. Introduction**

In veterinary practice, intra-articular administration of local anesthetics is used, especially in dogs and horses, for pain management during arthroscopic surgery, diagnosis of lameness, and for the control of pain associated with joint diseases such as osteoarthritis (Borer, 2006; Di Salvo et al., 2021; Schumacher & Boone, 2021; Van Vynckt, Samoy, et al., 2012). The type of local anesthetics used in a protocol, and the specific techniques vary depending on the procedure and availability of drugs. The inclusion of local anesthetics in multimodal anesthetic and/or analgesic protocols reduces the doses of systemic anesthetics and/or analgesics required for adequate pain management, and this in turn leads to a decrease in the risks and side effects associated with these drugs (Dutton et al., 2014; Kushnir et al., 2017; Martin-Flores et al., 2019; McFadzean et al., 2021). However, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have indicated that local anesthetics have chondrotoxic effects in both humans and animals, and may therefore not be safe for intra-articular use (Adler et al., 2011; Busfield & Romero, 2009; Chu et al., 2006; Gomoll et al., 2006; Kaewpichit et al., 2019). Their chondrotoxicity depends on the dose, period of exposure, and the type of drug used (Karpie & Chu, 2007; Kreuz et al., 2018).

Bupivacaine is an amide-type local anesthetic with a slow onset and long duration of action (Lemke & Dawson, 2000). It has been the most widely used local anesthetic for decades (Casati & Putzu, 2005). Local administration of bupivacaine is commonly used as part of a multimodal analgesic plan to minimize postoperative pain and it can be used for different anesthetic technics including intra-articular injection during orthopaedic procedures (Barry et al., 2015). A recent survey among veterinarians found that bupivacaine was the most commonly used local anesthetic for peripheral nerve blocks during pelvic limb surgery (Thomson et al., 2021). Although only one respondent from this survey had used it for intra-articular administration, it is evident that despite the known cytotoxic effects, bupivacaine remains a

preferred drug of choice for pain management in veterinary clinical practice. It is therefore necessary to study and understand its effects on cell viability and function in order to identify ways to attenuate or prevent its cytotoxic effects while maintaining the clinical benefits.

Previous *in vitro* studies investigating local anesthetic chondrotoxicity have generally used concentrations that are based on the commercially available drug preparations (Baker et al., 2011; Chu et al., 2006; Park et al., 2011; Sherman et al., 2015). However, *in vivo* studies to evaluate synovial fluid concentrations of local anesthetics have shown that after intra-articular injection, the infused drug may be diluted depending on the volume of the synovial fluid present in the joint (Barry et al., 2015; Ravnihar et al., 2021). A study in human patients found that the lidocaine synovial fluid concentration was as low as 0.02% (0.23 mg/ml) 10 to 15 min after a single intra-articular injection with 2% (20 mg/ml) lidocaine (Ravnihar et al., 2021). Similarly in dogs, bupivacaine synovial fluid concentrations dropped to 0.36% (3.6 mg/ml) in normal stifles and 0.25% (2.5 mg/ml) in osteoarthritic stifles immediately after a single intra-articular injection of 0.5% (5 mg/ml) bupivacaine (Barry et al., 2015). In the same study, the bupivacaine synovial fluid concentration dropped even further to 0.04% (0.4 mg/ml) in normal stifles and 0.06% (0.6 mg/ml) in osteoarthritic stifles 30 min after injection. These studies indicate that if local anesthetics leave the joint compartment as rapidly as suggested by the synovial fluid concentrations, they are unlikely to damage chondrocytes when administered, especially as a single intra-articular injection during clinical applications. It also shows that the concentration of the local anesthetic drug that intra-articular chondrocytes are exposed to may be lower than what is initially injected; and that the chondrotoxicity may not be as extensive as what has been found in previous in vitro studies. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the in vitro chondrotoxic effects of bupivacaine at concentrations that are similar to reported in vivo synovial fluid concentrations in canine articular chondrocytes following 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment.

#### 2.3. Materials and methods

#### 2.3.1. Chondrocyte isolation and culture

Articular cartilage samples were collected from three dogs that underwent limb amputation at Hokkaido University Veterinary Hospital for reasons unrelated to this study. The samples were obtained from the femoral condyles of a 9-year-old Golden retriever and 13-yearold mixed breed, and humeral condyle of a 12-year-old Shiba Inu. The collection and use of cartilage samples was in accordance with Hokkaido University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee guidelines (approval No. 12-0059). After collection, the cartilage was mechanically dissected and incubated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 0.3% collagenase I (Wako Pure Chemicals Industries, Osaka, Japan) for 18 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The chondrocytes were then released from the cartilage by filtration through a 40  $\mu$ m nylon filter and centrifuged at 400  $\times$  g for 5 min then resuspended in growth medium. Primary (P0) chondrocytes were seeded at  $1.0 \times 10^4$ cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in 100 mm culture dishes (Corning, Lowell, MA, USA). Growth medium containing 10 mM HEPES (Dojindo, Kumamoto, Japan), 25 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (Wako, Osaka, Japan), 100 U/ml penicillin G potassium (Wako) and 73 U/ml streptomycin sulphate (Wako) and supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS: Nichirei Biosciences Inc., Tokyo, Japan) was used for cell culture. At 80-90% confluence, chondrocytes were washed thrice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and detached from the culture plate using a solution of 0.5% trypsin (Wako) and 0.02% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA; Dojindo) in PBS. After 5-10 min, growth medium containing 10% FBS was added to the culture plate to inhibit the trypsin, and the cells were then centrifuged at  $400 \times g$  for 5 min before they were resuspended in growth medium. Cell number and viability was determined by the trypan blue (Wako) exclusion assay before they were sub-cultured under the same conditions as described above.

#### **2.3.2.** Chondrocyte treatment

Third passage (P3) chondrocytes were used for all the experimental analyses. For all experiments, chondrocytes were seeded at  $2.5 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> and cultured for 24 hr in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (10-DMEM) in an incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, to allow for cell attachment before treatment. The culture medium was removed, and chondrocytes were treated with bupivacaine (Marcain injection 0.5%; Aspen, Tokyo, Japan) which was diluted to concentrations of 0.25%, 0.125%, 0.062%, 0.031% and 0.016% (2.5, 1.25, 0.62, 0.31 and 0.16 mg/ml, respectively) in 10-DMEM. The highest bupivacaine concentration (0.25%) was used as the positive control while the culture medium (10-DMEM) without bupivacaine was used as the negative control. Following treatment, chondrocyte viability was evaluated after 1, 6 and 24 hr using the live/dead, 3-(4,5-dimehylthiazolyl-2)2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), and Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) assays.

#### 2.3.3. Live/dead Assay

Chondrocytes at a density of  $2.0 \times 10^4$  cells per well were plated in 8-well chamber slides (Iwaki, Tokyo, Japan) for 24 hr then treated with 250 µl local anesthetics in 10-DMEM as described above. The live/dead reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) was prepared by diluting calcein AM and ethidium homodimer (EthD-1) in PBS; resulting in approximately 2 µM calcein AM and 4 µM EthD-1 working solution. After 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment, 150 µl of this solution was added directly into the wells containing 250 µl 10-DMEM and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. After incubation, the solution was carefully removed from the culture wells and replaced with PBS. Fluorescence imaging was performed using a FLoid Cell Imaging Station (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and images were obtained under green (FITC filter) and red (Texas red filter) light. Where necessary, photo contrast and brightness were adjusted using ImageJ software (National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA).

#### 2.3.4. MTT Assay

Chondrocytes were cultured in 96-well plates (Corning) at a density of  $8.0 \times 10^3$  cells per well for 24 hr and then treated with 200 µl local anesthetics in 10-DMEM as described above. The treatments were performed in triplicate for each cell source. After 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment, the culture medium was removed and after washing the cells twice with PBS, 150 µl MTT (Dojindo) solution diluted 1:5 in serum-free DMEM was added into each well. The culture plates were then incubated for 3 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The MTT solution was then removed from the wells and MTT formazan crystals were dissolved with 100 µl dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Wako). The absorbance was measured with a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 570 nm.

#### 2.3.5. CCK-8 Assay

Similar to the MTT assay,  $8.0 \times 10^3$  chondrocytes were cultured in 96-well plates (Corning) for 24 hr and the CCK-8 (Dojindo) was used to evaluate cell viability. The treatments were performed in triplicate for each cell source. After treatment with 200 µl local anesthetics in 10-DMEM, the cells were washed twice with PBS then 10 µl of the CCK-8 solution was added to 100 µl 10-DMEM in each well and incubated for 4 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Absorbance was then measured with a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific) at 450 nm.

#### 2.3.6. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software version 9.4.1 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's multiple comparisons test were used to compare between the treatment groups for the MTT and CCK-8 assays. *P*-value < 0.05 was considered significant. All results unless specified are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

#### 2.4. Results

# 2.4.1. Bupivacaine at low concentrations compromises cell membrane integrity and morphology - Live/dead Assay

Bupivacaine was chondrotoxic in a concentration- and time-dependent manner (Fig. 4). Cell death was observed at concentrations of 0.25 and 0.125% after 1 hr of treatment. At 0.125% most of the cells had taken up the EthD-1 stain (red) with the remaining live cells (green) being completely detached from the culture plate (white arrow), whereas at 0.25%, all the cells had taken up the EthD-1 stain. The bupivacaine treatments at 0.016, 0.031 and 0.062% were similar to the negative control after 1 hr. After 6 hr, all cells at 0.25 and 0.125% bupivacaine had taken up EthD-1; and at 0.062%, most of the cells had visibly detached from the culture plate (white arrow); while 0.016 and 0.031% did not show any changes after 6 hr. After 24 hr, 0.25 and 0.125% did not only show all the cells taking up the EthD-1 stain, but there was also a marked reduction in the number of cells. At 0.062% the number of dead cells increased compared to the 6 hr treatment; and all the cells were completely detached and visibly smaller in size, including the live cells that did not take up the EthD-1 stain. At 0.031% the cells did not take up EthD-1 or detach from the plate after 24 hr, however they had a morphological change in their growth pattern with the chondrocytes visibly forming clusters (yellow arrow). For all the bupivacaine treatments except 0.016%, there was a visible progression in these morphological changes and reduction in cell number as the time progressed from 1 - 6 - 24 hr of treatment indicating a concentration- and time-dependent effect.

## 2.4.2. Bupivacaine at low concentrations is cytotoxic to canine articular chondrocytes -MTT Assay

Bupivacaine decreased cell viability in a concentration- and time-dependent manner when compared to the negative control, which was considered to have 100 % viability (**Fig. 5**).

Treatment with 0.25 and 0.125% bupivacaine significantly reduced cell viability to less than 10% at all treatment time-points (P < 0.001 for both treatments). Bupivacaine at 0.062% caused a gradual reduction in cell viability with time, with the chondrocyte viability decreasing from 71.7  $\pm$  2.08% (P < 0.001) at 1 hr; to 44% (P < 0.001) after 6 hr; and 9  $\pm$  1% (P < 0.001) after 24 hr of treatment. Cell viability was 99.0  $\pm$  5.57% for 0.016% bupivacaine (P = 0.998) and 91.0  $\pm$  6.08% (P = 0.504) for 0.031% bupivacaine after 1 hr. Interestingly, bupivacaine at 0.016% increased cell viability from 99.0  $\pm$  5.57% (P = 0.998) at 1 hr treatment, to 103  $\pm$  2.65% (P = 0.870) after 6 hr of treatment and 102  $\pm$  5% (P = 0.945) after 24 hr of treatment; however, this change was not statistically significant. Bupivacaine at 0.031% also increased viability from 91.0  $\pm$  6.08% (P = 0.504) at 1 hr to 96.0  $\pm$  3.46% (P = 0.759) at 6 hr after treatment. This increase in cell viability was however transient and had receded after 24 hr to 60  $\pm$  7.55% (P < 0.001) for 0.031% bupivacaine.

## 2.4.3. Bupivacaine at low concentrations reduces cell viability as validated by the CCK-8 Assay

The CCK-8 assay showed a similar pattern to that of the MTT assay with a few variations (**Fig. 6**). After 1 hr, only 0.125 and 0.25% bupivacaine significantly reduced cell viability to  $40 \pm 8.72\%$  (P < 0.001) and  $10.67 \pm 2.52\%$  (P < 0.001), respectively. The viability decreased even further to  $6.33 \pm 1.12\%$  (P < 0.001) for 0.125% bupivacaine and  $7.7 \pm 1.53\%$  (P < 0.001) for 0.25% bupivacaine after 6 hr; and to  $4.67 \pm 1.53\%$  (P < 0.001) for 0.125% bupivacaine at 0.062% bupivacaine and  $6 \pm 1\%$  (P < 0.001) for 0.25% bupivacaine after 24 hr. Bupivacaine at 0.062% also progressively decreased cell viability to  $91 \pm 5.57\%$  (P = 0.63) after 1 hr,  $51 \pm 5.29\%$  (P < 0.001) after 6 hr, and  $7 \pm 3\%$  (P < 0.001) after 24 hr. Bupivacaine at 0.031% gradually decreased chondrocyte viability to  $99.7 \pm 6.03\%$  (P > 0.999) after 1 hr,  $91.7 \pm 5.13\%$  (P > 0.999) after 6 hr and to  $63.3 \pm 9.29\%$  (P = 0.001) after 24 hr of treatment. At 0.016% bupivacaine, chondrocyte viability gradually decreased from  $102.7 \pm 9.29\%$  (P = 0.998) after 1 hr; to  $93.3 \pm 1.0000$ )

2.31 (P > 0.999) after 6 hr; and 79.3 ± 4.51 (P = 0.103) after 24 hr, although it did not significantly decrease at any of the treatment time-points. Unlike the MTT assay, there was no transient increase in cell viability observed at any of the concentrations or treatment time points with the CCK-8 assay.





The figure shows live cells (green) and dead cells (red) after 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment with 0.25, 0.125, 0.062, 0.031 and 0.016% bupivacaine. Bupivacaine caused a concentration- and time-dependent reduction in canine chondrocyte viability *in vitro*. The chondrotoxic effects were also visible when live cells became detached from the culture plate (white arrows) or through cell clustering as observed after 24 hr at 0.031% (yellow arrows). Scale bar: 100 µm.



Fig. 5: MTT assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine treatment on chondrocyte viability.

(A) shows the graphs for each individual treatment time point and (B) shows a combination of the results from (A). Bupivacaine was chondrotoxic in a concentration- and time-dependent manner. After 1 hr there was a significant reduction in cell viability with 0.062, 0.125 and 0.25% bupivacaine (\*\*\* P < 0.001) compared to the negative control (100% viability). After 6 hr and 24 hr, 0.016% bupivacaine caused a non-significant increase in cell viability compared to the 1 hr treatment. At 0.031% bupivacaine also caused a transient increase in viability after 6 hr but after 24 hr, the viability at 0.031% had significantly decreased in addition to the 0.062, 0.125 and 0.25% treatments (\*\*\* P < 0.001). There was also a significant difference in chondrocyte viability between the different time-points for the 0.031 and 0.062% bupivacaine treatments (### P < 0.001).



Fig. 6: CCK-8 assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine treatment on chondrocyte viability.

(A) shows the graphs for each individual treatment time point and (B) shows a combination of the results from (A). Similar to the MTT assay, bupivacaine was chondrotoxic in a concentration- and time-dependent manner. After 1 hr, bupivacaine at 0.125 and 0.25% caused a significant reduction in chondrocyte viability (\*\*\* P < 0.001) compared to the negative control. After 6 hr, 0.062% in addition to 0.125 and 0.25%, caused a significant reduction in viability (\*\*\* P < 0.001). After 24 hr, all the treatment groups showed a reduction in cell viability with 0.031% being the minimum concentration causing a significant effect (\*\*P = 0.001) while there was no significant difference between 0.016% and the negative control. Additionally, there were significant time-dependent differences in cell viability for 0.016, 0.031, 0.062 and 0.125% bupivacaine (### P < 0.001).

#### **2.5. Discussion**

Understanding the effects of local anesthetics on articular chondrocyte viability is important in helping to identify ways in which they can be safely included in multimodal anesthetic and analgesic protocols, while avoiding their adverse effects. In the present study, the *in vitro* effects of bupivacaine at low concentrations on canine articular chondrocyte viability after 1, 6 and 24 hr of treatment were evaluated. Bupivacaine affected chondrocyte viability in a concentration- and time-dependent manner, as the level of chondrotoxicity increased with an increase in the concentration of bupivacaine and time of exposure. These findings were similar to previous studies evaluating the *in vitro* chondrotoxic effects of bupivacaine at higher concentrations (Breu, Rosenmeier, et al., 2013; Chu et al., 2008; Grishko et al., 2010); and therefore show that bupivacaine can have *in vitro* chondrotoxic effects at proportions similar to *in vivo* synovial fluid concentrations in canine articular chondrocytes.

Three different viability tests were used to validate whether the pattern and level of chondrotoxicity would be the same for each method of assessment. The live/dead assay analyses cell membrane integrity and permeability by differential staining with either calcein for live cells or ethidium homodimer (EthD-1) for dead cells. Calcein is well retained within live cells, producing a uniform green fluorescence in live cells whereas EthD-1 enters cells with damaged membranes and produces bright red fluorescence in dead cells. In addition to differentiating between live and dead cells, the live/dead assay can also be used to observe changes in cell morphology and attachment that may occur following treatment. The MTT and CCK-8 assays both measure cellular dehydrogenase activity; however, MTT assay only measures mitochondrial activity whereas CCK-8 involves most of the dehydrogenase in a cell and therefore measures the general cellular metabolic activity.

Bupivacaine is commercially available in concentrations of 0.25, 0.5, and 0.75% (2.5, 5.0 and 7.5 mg/ml, respectively) (Barry et al., 2015). In the present study, five bupivacaine

concentrations were used, with the highest being a commercially available concentration (0.25%). Bupivacaine was expected to have *in vitro* chondrotoxic effects at this concentration based on previous studies (Adler et al., 2021; Chu et al., 2008; Rengert et al., 2021), so that it could provide a basis for comparison with the other lower concentrations used. Our study found that bupivacaine at 0.25 and 0.125% significantly decreased cell viability (P < 0.001) at all treatment time points compared to the control. The *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at these concentrations has had mixed results with some studies demonstrating that it does not cause significant reduction in chondrocyte viability at 0.125% (Chu et al., 2008) or at 0.25% (Breu, Rosenmeier, et al., 2013; Dragoo et al., 2012). However, the findings of the present study were similar to a recent study in which bupivacaine demonstrated chondrotoxic effects in equine chondrocytes at 0.25 and 0.125% after a 30-min and 60-min period of exposure (Adler et al., 2021). Another study performed on full-thickness cartilage and synovial explants obtained from canine cadavers also found that 0.25 and 0.125% bupivacaine were chondrotoxic after 24 hr and 7 days after treatment (Sherman et al., 2015).

In the present study, bupivacaine at 0.062% (0.62 mg/ml), 0.031% (0.32 mg/ml) and 0.016% (0.16 mg/ml) were estimated to be within ranges similar to *in vivo* synovial fluid concentrations after intra-articular injection in dogs. This estimation was based on results from the study by Barry et al. (2015) in which the *in vivo* synovial fluid concentrations of bupivacaine in canine stifles dropped to 0.04% (0.4 mg/ml) in normal stifles and 0.06% (0.6 mg/ml in osteoarthritic stifles 30 min after a single intra-articular injection of 0.5% (5 mg/ml) bupivacaine (Barry et al., 2015). A previous study by Rengert et al. (2021) evaluated the effect of different bupivacaine preparations on canine articular chondrocyte viability using concentrations similar to the *in vivo* synovial fluid concentrations reported by Barry et al. (2015). The study demonstrated that low concentrations (of less than 0.25%) of both standard preparation and liposomal bupivacaine did not have chondrotoxic effects after a short-term

exposure of 1 hr, indicating that a single intra-articular injection of bupivacaine may not result in chondrotoxic effects when administered in vivo (Rengert et al., 2021). In the current study, bupivacaine concentrations of less than 0.25% were still able to significantly decrease chondrocyte viability depending on the length of exposure. Three time points were used to evaluate whether bupivacaine would be chondrotoxic after short-term, intermediate, and prolonged exposure, i.e., 1, 6 and 24 hr, respectively. The period of short-term exposure (1 hr) was selected based on previous studies (Adler et al., 2021; Rengert et al., 2021); 6 hr was selected as the intermediate period of exposure based on the average duration of action of bupivacaine (Borer, 2006); and 24 hr was included arbitrarily to evaluate the effect of continuous prolonged exposure to low bupivacaine concentrations on chondrocyte viability. As the study by Barry et al. (2015) only evaluated the intra-articular bupivacaine concentrations for a maximum period of 30 minutes after a single injection, the *in vivo* concentrations may not remain the same 1, 6 and 24 hr after injection unless used in a protocol with repeated or continuous intra-articular infusion of bupivacaine. The concentrations used in the current study were therefore estimated values and may not be the precise amounts of bupivacaine that would be found within the joint space at each specific time point in vivo.

Bupivacaine at 0.062% did not show chondrotoxic effects with the live/dead assay and it did not significantly reduce cell viability with the CCK-8 assay (P = 0.630) after 1 hr. However, there was a significant reduction to  $71.7 \pm 2.08\%$  (P < 0.001) with the MTT assay. This was likely because of differences in the sensitivity of the viability tests used. A study by Adler et al. (2021) on the chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics in equine articular chondrocytes had similar findings with 0.062% bupivacaine reducing cell viability with the MTT assay but not with the Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay after 1 hr of treatment. It has been shown that local anesthetics induce chondrotoxicity by causing mitochondrial dysfunction (Grishko et al., 2010); therefore, because the MTT assay measures mitochondrial dehydrogenase, it may be more sensitive to changes in mitochondrial activity compared to the CCK-8 and live/dead assays. Previous studies on the *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine in canine articular chondrocytes found that 0.062% bupivacaine did not affect cell viability (Rengert et al., 2021; Sherman et al., 2015). These mixed results may be due to differences in the experimental designs and the samples used. In the study by Sherman et al. (2015), full thickness canine cartilage explants were used instead of isolated chondrocytes. On the other hand, Rengert et al. (2021) compared the bupivacaine treatments with normal saline as the control; however, when the chondrocyte viability was compared with that of cells treated with growth medium only, bupivacaine at 0.062% caused a significant reduction in viability after 1 hr similar to the findings in this study.

After 6 hr, 0.062% bupivacaine reduced cell viability for all three viability tests. Although the cells did not take up the EthD-1 stain, cell detachment was observed at this concentration with the live/dead assay. Interestingly, with the MTT assay, there was a mild increase in cell viability at 0.016% compared to the control from  $99.0 \pm 5.57\%$  (P = 0.998) after 1 hr, to  $103 \pm 2.65\%$  (P = 0.870) after 6 hr of treatment and  $102 \pm 5\%$  (P = 0.945) after 24 hr of treatment. Bupivacaine at 0.031% also caused a transient increase from  $91.0 \pm 6.08\%$  (P = 0.504) at 1 hr to  $96.0 \pm 3.46\%$  (P = 0.759) at 6 hr after treatment. This may have been due to temporal changes in mitochondrial activity caused by bupivacaine treatment. Under conditions of environmental stress, chondrocytes tend to adapt their metabolism to microenvironmental changes by shifting from one metabolic pathway to another, which can cause metabolic alterations that involve mitochondrial dysfunction (Zheng et al., 2021). Additionally, chondrocytes producing survival signals following cellular injury can increase intercellular communication in order to prevent cell death (Ghasemi et al., 2021; Lotz et al., 1999). These changes can lead to a temporal increase in enzymatic activity which is then detected as an increase in optical density with the MTT assay as was the case in the present study. With the

MTT and CCK-8 assays, 0.031% was the minimum concentration showing a significant reduction in cell viability compared to the control (P < 0.001). The CCK-8 assay showed reduction in viability for all bupivacaine concentrations after 24 hr, except for 0.016% which was not statistically significant (P = 0.103). With the live/dead assay, 0.031% did not take up the EthD-1 stain, but cell clustering was observed after 24 hr. In osteoarthritis, clusters of proliferating cells contain cells in apoptosis (Lotz et al., 1999). Therefore, the chondrocyte clusters observed in our study may be an indication of early apoptosis caused by injury from treatment with bupivacaine. However, the mechanisms of cell death involved in this case were not investigated further because it was beyond the scope of this study.

The findings of this study show that bupivacaine has in vitro chondrotoxic effects at low concentrations that are similar to the concentrations found in synovial fluid after intra-articular injection (Barry et al., 2015). However, these chondrotoxic effects are more likely to occur with prolonged and continuous exposure. While bupivacaine at 0.25% and 0.125% caused extensive chondrotoxicity at all time points, a time-dependent effect was observed at lower bupivacaine concentrations as indicated in Fig. 5 (B) and Fig. 6 (B). The MTT assay showed a gradual decrease in chondrocyte viability with an increase in the length of treatment time at 0.062% and 0.031%; while 0.016, 0.031, 0.062, and 0.125% bupivacaine showed significant reduction in cell viability between different time points with the CCK-8 assay. This pattern was also clearly demonstrated with the live/dead assay in which the cells treated with 0.062% bupivacaine were still attached to the surface of the culture plate and had fibroblast-like morphology after 1 hr of treatment (Fig. 4). After 6 hr, the cells appeared spherical and detached, and after 24 hr they had reduced in size and had taken up the EthD-1 stain. These changes in morphology with each time point were an indication of a progressive increase in the chondrotoxic effects of bupivacaine. Bupivacaine at 0.031% similarly only had an effect on chondrocyte morphology after 24 hr of treatment by causing cluster formation, although the cells did not take up the EthD-1 stain. It is also important to note that while the chondrotoxic effects may not be obvious immediately following treatment, local anesthetics can have delayed detrimental effects on cartilage and/or chondrocyte metabolism both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. A study by Grishko et al. (2010) found a significant decrease in chondrocyte viability and an increase in the number of apoptotic cells 5 days after treatment with lidocaine, bupivacaine, and ropivacaine. Similarly, an *in vivo* study in Sprague-Dawley rats reported a reduction in chondrocyte density six months after a single intra-articular injection of 0.5% bupivacaine (Chu et al., 2010). It is therefore necessary to conduct more experimental and clinical studies that can elucidate the mechanisms that are involved in local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity.

This study had a number of limitations. The in vitro experimental conditions under which the chondrocytes were treated and analysed do not equate the in vivo physiological conditions of a joint environment. During intra-articular administration of local anesthetics, nerve endings that are primarily located in the fibrous joint capsule and ligaments of the joint are the main target for analgesia (Barry et al., 2015), because cartilage is an avascular and aneural tissue (Kheir & Shaw, 2009). Therefore, the response of the chondrocytes to treatment with local anesthetics will also depend on how other structures within the joint are affected by the local anesthetic. In our study, the monolayer culture was used as a model and only showed drug effects on chondrocytes, but it did not account for other components of a diarthrodial joint such as the extracellular matrix, synovial membrane, and synovial fluid that may affect the dynamics of the joint. In addition, only the immediate effects of bupivacaine on chondrocyte viability were assessed. The biomolecular mechanisms involved or the possibility of delayed effects leading to cell death were not evaluated. Furthermore, the concentrations of bupivacaine used in this study only account for the synovial fluid concentrations determined after a single injection with 0.5% bupivacaine as reported by Barry et al. (2015). Since bupivacaine is commercially available in different concentrations, the amount of drug present within the joint
may be different from what has previously been reported, depending on the bupivacaine preparation used or the volume of drug injected and whether or not it is repeatedly or continuously infused into the joint.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that bupivacaine at low concentrations reduces cell viability in canine articular chondrocytes *in vitro* in a concentration- and time-dependent manner. Bupivacaine at low concentrations that are similar to *in vivo* synovial fluid concentrations can negatively affect chondrocyte viability especially with prolonged exposure. Further studies are required to evaluate whether these concentrations can be chondrotoxic *in vivo* with prolonged exposure or if they may have delayed deleterious effects on chondrocyte metabolism following intra-articular injection.

# **3.** Chapter 2: *In vitro* effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cell viability and caspase activity in cultured canine articular chondrocytes

### 3.1. Summary

The second chapter evaluated the comparative in vitro effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cell viability and caspase activity in canine articular chondrocytes in order to elucidate whether they would activate the extrinsic or intrinsic pathways of apoptosis. Third passage chondrocytes in monolayer culture were treated with culture medium as the control, or with 0.062% (0.62mg/mL) bupivacaine, 0.062% levobupivacaine and 0.062% ropivacaine for 24 hr. Cell viability was evaluated using the live/dead, 3-(4,5-dimehylthiazolyl-2)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), and Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) assays. Evaluation of caspase-3, caspase-8 and caspase-9 activity was performed using colorimetric assays. The MTT and CCK-8 assays were used to evaluate the effect of caspase inhibitors on local anesthetic chondrotoxicity. All three local anesthetics significantly decreased chondrocyte viability after 24 hr (P < 0.001). Bupivacaine significantly increased caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 activity (P < 0.001). Levobupivacaine increased caspase-3 activity (P = 0.03), while ropivacaine did not significantly upregulate activity for any of the three caspases. Caspase inhibition did not suppress bupivacaine and levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity whereas inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9 attenuated ropivacaine chondrotoxicity. Local anesthetics induced apoptosis through both the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. The type of caspase activated, the level of caspase activation, and the response to caspase inhibitors was dependent on the type of local anesthetic. Ropivacaine may be a safer choice for intra-articular administration compared to levobupivacaine and bupivacaine.

#### **3.2. Introduction**

Intra-articular administration of local anesthetics is used for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes in veterinary clinical practice (Borer, 2006; Di Salvo et al., 2021). Some of the applications for intra-articular local anesthetics in veterinary patients include diagnosis of lameness and joint diseases (Schumacher & Boone, 2021; Van Vynckt, Samoy, et al., 2012; Van Vynckt, Verhoeven, et al., 2012), anesthesia during joint/arthroscopic surgery,(Borer, 2006; Di Salvo et al., 2021) and management of pain associated with osteoarthritis and other joint diseases (Di Salvo et al., 2021). Despite their efficacy in pain management, local anesthetics can have adverse clinical effects, such as chondrotoxicity following intra-articular injection (Kreuz et al., 2018; Piper et al., 2011). As a result of these adverse effects on chondrocytes, intra-articular administration of local anesthetics is controversial both in human and veterinary medicine, and it is sometimes discouraged due to concerns about their risk/benefit profile (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Di Salvo et al., 2021). However, because local anesthetics play an important and unique role in pain management, it may not be possible to completely eliminate their use in clinical applications. It is therefore necessary to understand their clinical and biomolecular effects on cell viability so as to identify ways in which their cytotoxic effects can be prevented or attenuated.

Bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine are potent, long-acting amide local anesthetics that can be used as part of various anesthetic and/or analgesic protocols, including intra-articular administration. Bupivacaine is commonly used in clinical applications because of its high potency and long duration of action (Casati & Putzu, 2005; Thomson et al., 2021). Levobupivacaine and ropivacaine are analogues of bupivacaine that were developed following evidence of bupivacaine-induced toxicity (Casati & Putzu, 2005; Leone et al., 2008). They are considered to be less toxic than bupivacaine while having similar potency and duration of action (Barletta & Reed, 2019; Casati & Putzu, 2005; Leone et al., 2008). While this may be true for

systemic and cardiac toxicity, both levobupivacaine and ropivacaine have demonstrated chondrotoxicity, especially at high doses and with prolonged exposure (Çevik et al., 2018; Grishko et al., 2010; Gungor et al., 2014; Lo et al., 2009). The cytotoxic effects of local anesthetics appear to occur mainly through mitochondrial damage, which then leads to apoptosis or necrosis depending on the dose and period of time that the cells are exposed to the drug (Grishko et al., 2010; Irwin et al., 2002; Johnson et al., 2004; Werdehausen et al., 2007). However, the pathway of apoptosis involved in local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity remains unclear and requires further investigation.

Apoptosis is regulated by caspases, which are a family of proteases, that act in a proteolytic cascade to induce programmed cell death (Eduardo et al., 2018). Initiation of apoptosis occurs through either a cell-extrinsic pathway, regulated by caspase-8; or a cellintrinsic pathway, regulated by caspase-9 (Parrish et al., 2013). The extrinsic pathway is induced by signals coming from outside of the cell whereas the intrinsic pathway results from changes in the mitochondrial integrity (Kiraz et al., 2016; Parrish et al., 2013). Activation of either caspase-8 or caspase-9 leads to the downstream activation of effector caspases, which then induce apoptosis (Kiraz et al., 2016; Parrish et al., 2013). Caspase-3 is the most wellcharacterized effector caspase which is activated via both extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways (Kiraz et al., 2016; Parrish et al., 2013). As such, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cell viability, and to further elucidate the pathway of apoptosis involved in their chondrotoxicity by evaluating their effects on caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 activation, and the response to inhibition of these caspases in cultured canine articular chondrocytes. Because of their effects on mitochondrial function, it is likely that local anesthetics primarily induce apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway (Eduardo et al., 2018). Therefore, the hypothesis was that all three local anesthetics would activate the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis through caspase-9 activation.

### 3.3. Materials and methods

#### 3.3.1. Chondrocyte isolation and culture

Cartilage samples were collected from the joints of three dogs undergoing limb surgery at The Hokkaido University Veterinary Teaching Hospital for reasons unrelated to this study. The samples were obtained from the femoral heads of a 7-year-old Cocker Spaniel and 8-yearold Toy Poodle undergoing femoral head resection; and from the humeral condyle of a 12-yearold Shiba Inu undergoing limb amputation. The collection and use of cartilage samples was in accordance with Hokkaido University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee guidelines (approval No. 12-0059). After collection, the cartilage was mechanically dissected and incubated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) supplemented with 0.3% collagenase I (Wako) for 18 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cartilage samples were then filtered through a 40 µm nylon filter to release the primary (P0) chondrocytes which were then seeded at  $1.0 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in 100 mm culture dishes (Corning). DMEM containing 10 mM HEPES (Dojindo), 25 mM NaHCO3 (Wako), 100 U/mL penicillin G potassium (Wako) and 73 U/mL streptomycin sulphate (Wako) and supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS: Nichirei) was used as growth medium. Chondrocytes were harvested at 80-90% confluence, by washing them three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and they were detached from the culture plate using a solution containing 0.5% trypsin (Wako) and 0.02% Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA; Dojindo) dissolved in PBS. Culture medium containing 10% FBS was used to inhibit the trypsin and the cells were centrifuged at  $400 \times g$ for 5 min before they were resuspended in growth medium. The trypan blue (Wako) exclusion assay was used to determine the chondrocyte number and viability before they were subcultured until third passage (P3) chondrocytes were obtained.

#### **3.3.2.** Chondrocyte treatment

Third passage chondrocytes in monolayer culture were used for all the experiments. The cells were seeded at  $2.5 \times 10^4$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> and cultured in an incubator at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Experiments were performed in duplicate for each cell source. DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (10-DMEM) was used as the culture medium. Following culture, the growth medium was removed, and the chondrocytes were treated with 10-DMEM as the control, or with 0.062% (0.62 mg/ml) bupivacaine (Marcaine injection 0.5%; Aspen); 0.062% levobupivacaine (Popscaine injection 0.5%; Maruishi Pharmaceutical Co., Osaka, Japan); and 0.062% ropivacaine (Anapeine injection 1.0%; Aspen). The local anesthetics were diluted to these concentrations using 10-DMEM. The treatment groups were labeled as Control; Bup 0.062% for bupivacaine; Lev 0.062% for levobupivacaine; and Rop 0.062% for ropivacaine.

#### 3.3.3. Live/dead Assay

The live/dead assay was used to visually differentiate between live and dead cells, and to assess morphological changes that occurred following treatment with the local anesthetics.  $2.0 \times 10^4$  chondrocytes were plated in 8-well chamber slides (Iwaki) for 24 hr then treated with 10-DMEM as the control or with local anesthetics diluted in culture medium as described above. After 24 hr of treatment, the live/dead reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was added to the culture wells and incubated for 30 min at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, then the solution was carefully removed from the culture wells and replaced with PBS for viewing. A FLoid Cell Imaging Station (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for fluorescent microscopy and images were obtained under green (FITC filter) and red (Texas red filter) light. Where necessary, photo contrast and brightness were adjusted using ImageJ software (National Institute of Health). The live/dead assay analyses cell membrane integrity and permeability by differential staining with either calcein for live cells (green) or ethidium homodimer (EthD-1) for dead cells (red).

### 3.3.4. MTT Assay

The MTT (Dojindo) assay was used to evaluate the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on mitochondrial dehydrogenase activity. Chondrocytes were seeded at a density of  $8.0 \times 10^3$  per well in 96-well plates (Corning) for 24 hr and treated as described above. After 24 hr, the culture medium was removed and the cells were washed twice with PBS, then MTT working solution was added into each well. The culture plates were then incubated for 3 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The MTT solution was then removed from the wells and MTT formazan crystals were dissolved with 100 µl dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO: Wako). The absorbance from each well was measured using a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific) at 570 nm.

### 3.3.5. CCK-8 Assay

The CCK-8 assay (Dojindo) was used to validate the MTT assay by evaluating the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cellular dehydrogenase activity. Chondrocytes were seeded at a density of  $8.0 \times 10^3$  per well and cultured in 96-well plates (Corning) for 24 hr and treated as described above. After 24 hr treatment, the medium was removed, and the cells were washed twice with PBS. Cells were then treated with 10 µl of the CCK-8 solution added to 100 µl 10-DMEM in each well and incubated for 4 hr at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Absorbance was then measured with a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific) at 450 nm.

### **3.3.6.** Evaluation of caspase activity

After determining their effect on chondrocyte viability, the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase-3, caspase-8 and caspase-9 activation were evaluated. Chondrocytes were seeded onto 60 mm culture dishes (Corning) at a density of 52.5  $\times 10^4$  cells per plate. The cells were cultured in 10-DMEM for 6 days until they reached 90% confluence, with the growth medium being changed every 3 days during culture. The chondrocytes were then treated with 10-DMEM or bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine for 24hr as described above. After treatment, the medium was removed, and the cells were washed twice with PBS before they were harvested using Accutase solution (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA). Caspase activity was then determined using the caspase-3, caspase-8 and caspase-9 assay kits (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After harvest, the chondrocytes were resuspended in chilled cell lysis buffer for 10 min. Thereafter, the protein concentration of each sample was measured using a protein quantification assay kit (Macherey-Nagel, Dürren, Germany) and adjusted accordingly. Then DTT followed by DEVD-p-NA substrate for caspase-3, IETD-pNA substrate for caspase-8, or LEHD-p-NA substrate for caspase-9 were added to the test sample, respectively. Samples were then incubated at 37°C for 2 hours and the absorbance was measured with a microplate reader (Thermo Scientific) at 405 nm.

### 3.3.7. Inhibition of caspase activity

The MTT assay and CCK-8 assay were used to evaluate the effect of caspase inhibition on local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity. The inhibitor concentrations and were substrates based on previously described protocols (Chen et al., 2012; Huser et al., 2006), with minor modifications. Chondrocytes were seeded at a density of  $8.0 \times 10^3$  per well in 96-well plates (Corning) and cultured for 24 hr. The cells, except the control, were then pretreated with 50 µM caspase inhibitors in culture medium for 1 hr. The caspase inhibitors used included a caspase-3 inhibitor (Ac-DMQD-CHO; Peptide Institute Inc., Osaka, Japan), caspase-8 inhibitor (Ac-IETD-CHO; Peptide Institute Inc.) or a caspase-9 inhibitor (Ac-LEHD-CHO; Peptide Institute Inc.), respectively. The cells were then treated with 10-DMEM as the control, or with Bup 0.062%, Lev 0.062% and Rop 0.062% combined with the 50 µM caspase inhibitors for 24 hr. The cell viability was evaluated using the same methods described for the MTT and CCK-8 assays above.

### 3.3.8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software version 9.4.1 (GraphPad Software Inc.). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess normality. Analysis of variance and Dunnett's multiple comparison test was used to compare cell viability and caspase activity levels between the control and the local anesthetic treatments. Comparisons in chondrocyte viability were also made between the local anesthetic treatments with no inhibitors and those treated with local anesthetic combined with caspase inhibitors for each drug. The Dunnett's multiple comparison test or Dunn's multiple comparisons test was used for the latter depending on the normality of the data. *P*-value < 0.05 was considered significant. All results unless specified are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

### **3.4. Results**

### 3.4.1. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability and morphology - Live/dead Assay

All three local anesthetics caused morphological changes after 24 hr of treatment (**Fig. 7**). Bupivacaine was the most chondrotoxic as most of the cells had taken up the EthD-1 stain (red). Even the live cells were completely detached from the culture plate and had a spherical shape (white arrows) instead of the fibroblast-like morphology normally observed in monolayer culture. On the other hand, the cells treated with levobupivacaine and ropivacaine did not take up the EthD-1 stain but they had formed clusters and remained attached to the surface of the culture plate with fibroblast-like morphology (yellow arrows). Although there were no dead cells observed, cluster formation was an indication that the local anesthetics caused metabolic changes leading to changes in the growth pattern.

### 3.4.2. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on mitochondrial dehydrogenase activity- MTT Assay

All three local anesthetics significantly decreased chondrocyte viability compared to the control (**Fig. 8**). Bupivacaine was the most chondrotoxic with the cell viability decreasing to  $11.33 \pm 0.58\%$  (P < 0.001) compared to the control. Chondrocyte viability was decreased to  $61.67 \pm 14.29\%$  (P < 0.001) for levobupivacaine and to  $64 \pm 9.85\%$  (P < 0.001). Bupivacaine also significantly decreased chondrocyte viability compared to levobupivacaine (P < 0.001) and ropivacaine (P < 0.001). There was no statistical difference between the levobupivacaine and ropivacaine treatments (P > 0.999).

# 3.4.3. Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on cellular dehydrogenase activity - CCK-8 Assay

All treatments with local anesthetics caused a significant reduction in chondrocyte viability after 24 hr (**Fig. 8**). Bupivacaine was the most chondrotoxic with the cell viability decreasing to  $8.33 \pm 1.53\%$  (P < 0.001) compared to the control. Levobupivacaine and ropivacaine decreased chondrocyte viability to  $59 \pm 2.65\%$  (P < 0.001) and  $68 \pm 6.08\%$  (P < 0.001), respectively. Bupivacaine also significantly decreased chondrocyte viability compared to levobupivacaine (P < 0.001) and ropivacaine (P < 0.001). There was also a significant difference between the levobupivacaine and ropivacaine treatments, as levobupivacaine reduced chondrocyte viability more than the ropivacaine treatment (P = 0.004).



### Fig. 7: Live/dead assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability and morphology.

Chondrotoxicity was observed through differential staining between live cells (green) and dead cells (red) after 24 hr treatment with 0.062% bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine. The chondrotoxic effects were also visible when live cells became detached from the culture plate (white arrows) or through cell clustering (yellow arrows). Cells treated with bupivacaine were completely detached from the culture plate and had taken up the Eth-D stain. Cells treated with levobupivacaine and ropivacaine formed clusters, indicating a morphological change in response to treatment with the local anesthetics. Scale bar:  $100 \,\mu$ m.



Fig. 8: MTT and CCK-8 viability assay results showing the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability.

All three local anesthetics significantly decreased chondrocyte viability compared to the control after 24 hr (\*\*\*P < 0.001) for both the MTT and CCK-8 assays. Both viability tests also indicated that bupivacaine had the most chondrotoxic effect compared to levobupivacaine and ropivacaine (##P < 0.001). With the CCK-8 assay, chondrocyte viability for the ropivacaine treatment group was significantly higher than that of the cells treated with levobupivacaine (#P = 0.001).

### **3.4.4.** Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 activity

After determining that all three local anesthetics were chondrotoxic at 0.062%, their effect on caspase activity was evaluated (**Fig. 9**). The level of caspase activity was dependent on the type of local anesthetic and had a similar pattern to the cell viability assays. All three local anesthetics increased caspase-3 activity compared to the control, although ropivacaine did not have a statistically significant effect. Bupivacaine caused the highest increase (P < 0.001) while levobupivacaine (P = 0.03) and ropivacaine (P = 0.06) had comparative levels of caspase-3 activity. Interestingly, bupivacaine significantly increased caspase-8 activity (P < 0.001) whereas the caspase-8 levels for levobupivacaine (P = 0.974) and ropivacaine (P = 0.986) were similar to the control. Bupivacaine caused the highest increase in caspase-9 activity (P < 0.001) followed by levobupivacaine (P = 0.08), while ropivacaine had the least effect on caspase-9 activity (P = 0.892). Bupivacaine significantly upregulated all three caspases compared to levobupivacaine and ropivacaine (P < 0.001).

### 3.4.5. Effect of specific caspase inhibition on local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity – MTT assay

Cellular response to inhibition of caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 was dependent on the type of local anesthetic used. With the MTT assay, ropivacaine was the most responsive to caspase inhibition, while bupivacaine and levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity were not attenuated (**Fig. 10**). Caspase inhibition did not inhibit bupivacaine chondrotoxicity as the cell viability was still severely decreased compared to the control (P < 0.001) even with caspase inhibitors. Additionally, there was no significant difference between the bupivacaine only treatment and the groups treated with bupivacaine and caspase-3 (P = 0.575), caspase-8 (P =0.575), and caspase-9 (P = 0.305) inhibitors. For levobupivacaine, there was no significant difference between the treatments with or without the caspase inhibitors. Caspase-3 inhibition did not inhibit its chondrotoxicity (P = 0.980), and inhibition of caspase-8 (P = 0.301) and caspase-9 (P = 0.471) only mildly increased chondrocyte viability compared to the levobupivacaine only treatment (without inhibitors); however, this effect was not statistically significant. Meanwhile, caspase inhibition had a notable effect on ropivacaine chondrotoxicity. Inhibition of caspase-3 non-significantly increased the cell viability from  $64 \pm 9.85\%$  to 70.33  $\pm 10.97\%$  (P = 0.865), while caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibition markedly increased chondrocyte viability to  $98.33 \pm 8.02\%$  (P = 0.013) and  $88.33 \pm 11.06\%$  (P = 0.070) respectively.

## 3.4.6. Effect of specific caspase inhibition on local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity – CCK-8 assay

The CCK-8 assay showed a similar pattern to the MTT assay (**Fig. 11**). Inhibition of all three caspases did not inhibit bupivacaine chondrotoxicity, although there was a significant difference between the bupivacaine only treatment and the group treated with caspase-9 inhibitor (P = 0.013). Levobupivacaine had a similar response, as the cell viability for the groups treated with caspase-3 (P = 0.981), caspase-8 (P = 0.790), and caspase-9 (P > 0.999) inhibitors was similar to that of the levobupivacaine only treatment. Similar to the MTT assay results, ropivacaine was the most responsive to caspase inhibition. Inhibition of caspase-3 did not increase chondrocyte viability compared to the ropivacaine only group (P = 0.996); whereas inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9 significantly increased the chondrocyte viability from 68  $\pm 6.08\%$  to  $90.33 \pm 4.5\%1$  (P = 0.006) and  $90 \pm 7.55\%$  (P = 0.007), respectively.



Fig. 9: Effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 activity.

Bupivacaine significantly increased caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 activity (\*\*\*P < 0.001). Levobupivacaine induced significant increase in caspase-3 (P = 0.03) activity but did not significantly upregulate caspase-8 (P = 0.95) and caspase-9 (P = 0.08) activity. While ropivacaine had comparative levels of caspase-3 activity with levobupivacaine, it was not significantly different compared to the control (P = 0.06). Similarly, ropivacaine did not upregulate caspase-8 (P = 0.986) and caspase-9 activity (P = 0.892) compared to the control. Bupivacaine significantly upregulated all three caspases compared to levobupivacaine and ropivacaine (<sup>###</sup>P < 0.001).



### Fig. 10: MTT viability assay results showing the effects of caspase inhibition on local anesthetic chondrotoxicity.

Inhibition of caspase-3 did not suppress chondrotoxicity for any of the three local anesthetics as cell viability was still significantly lower than the control (\*\*\*P < 0.001). Caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibition also did not suppress bupivacaine chondrotoxicity as it was still able to substantially decrease chondrocyte viability compared to the control (\*\*\*P < 0.001). Inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9 however mildly attenuated levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity although this change was not significant. Caspase-8 inhibition significantly increased chondrocyte viability compared to the ropivacaine only treatment (\*P = 0.013) and Caspase-9 inhibition also markedly decreased ropivacaine chondrotoxicity compared to the ropivacaine only treatment (P = 0.07).



### Fig. 11: CCK-8 viability assay results showing the effects of caspase inhibition on local anesthetic chondrotoxicity.

Caspase inhibition did not attenuate bupivacaine and levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity as the cell viability for all treatment groups was still significantly lower than that of the control group (\*\*\*P < 0.001). However, inhibition of caspase-9 significantly increased chondrocyte viability relative to the bupivacaine only treatment ( $^{\#}P = 0.013$ ). In contrast, caspase inhibition attenuated ropivacaine chondrotoxicity. Although chondrocyte viability was still significantly lower than the control even with the caspase-9 inhibitor (\*P = 0.033), chondrocyte viability significantly increased compared to the ropivacaine only treatment following caspase-8 ( $^{\#}P = 0.006$ ) and caspase-9 ( $^{\#}P = 0.007$ ) inhibition. Similar to the MTT assay, caspase-3 inhibition did not attenuate chondrotoxicity for any of the three local anesthetics including ropivacaine.

### **3.5. Discussion**

While many studies have demonstrated the chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics (Adler et al., 2021; Chu et al., 2006; Gomoll et al., 2006; Kaewpichit et al., 2019; Lo et al., 2009), the mechanism of their cytotoxicity has not yet been fully elucidated (Grishko et al., 2010; Kaewpichit et al., 2019). Because local anesthetics are a mainstay in pain management, it is important to understand their effects on cell metabolism and function so as to provide appropriate recommendations for their safe application in veterinary clinical practice. In the second chapter, the results showed that the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability and caspase activity were dependent on the type of local anesthetic drug that the cells were treated with. These findings suggest that the cell death pathways involved in local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity may also be dependent on the type of drug that the chondrocytes are exposed to during treatment.

All three viability assays used in the present study showed a drug-type dependent chondrotoxic effect. Although only cells treated with bupivacaine were detached from the culture plate and had taken up the EthD-1 stain with the live/dead assay (**Fig. 7**), cluster formation observed with the levobupivacaine and ropivacaine treatments was also a sign of chondrotoxicity. Within the joint, cell organization in clusters can occur in normal articular cartilage, but it can also represent tissue responses to chemical or mechanical injury and presents prominently in cartilage affected by diseases such as osteoarthritis (Lotz et al., 2010). For example, in osteoarthritis, chondrocyte clusters containing proliferative cells that are also in apoptosis are formed in the early stages as a response to changes in the microenvironment (Lotz et al., 1999; Maldonado & Nam, 2013). Therefore, the change in morphology observed with the live/dead assay was likely an early response to chondrotoxicity in the present study. The MTT and CCK-8 assays were both used to validate the effects of the local anesthetics on

cellular dehydrogenase activity because the MTT assay only measures mitochondrial activity whereas CCK-8 involves most of the dehydrogenase in the cell. All three local anesthetics significantly reduced chondrocyte viability compared to the control (P < 0.001), with bupivacaine being the most chondrotoxic compared to levobupivacaine (P < 0.001) and ropivacaine (P < 0.001). Although the level of chondrotoxicity was similar between levobupivacaine and ropivacaine with the MTT assay (P > 0.999), ropivacaine was the least chondrotoxic among the three local anesthetics. This was clearly demonstrated with the CCK-8 assay where the viability of the cells treated with ropivacaine was significantly higher than that of cells treated with bupivacaine (P < 0.001) and levobupivacaine (P = 0.001). Similar to our findings, previous studies have shown that ropivacaine is generally less chondrotoxic compared to other local anesthetics (Breu, Rosenmeier, et al., 2013; Grishko et al., 2010; Kaewpichit et al., 2019; Piper & Kim, 2008). On the other hand, comparisons between bupivacaine and levobupivacaine have had mixed results. While bupivacaine is generally known to be the most chondrotoxic local anesthetic (Holder et al., 2022; Kreuz et al., 2018), levobupivacaine has been shown to be more chondrotoxic (Cobo-Molinos et al., 2014); less chondrotoxic (Cevik et al., 2018); or having similar effects on chondrocyte viability as bupivacaine (Kaewpichit et al., 2019). Further studies are required to clarify the reasons for these differences; however, this was not the focus of the current study. Because the chondrotoxic effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine have been established in previous studies (Adler et al., 2021; Grishko et al., 2010; Gungor et al., 2014; Kaewpichit et al., 2019), the first part of the experiments was done as a preliminary step to confirm their chondrotoxicity before evaluating the pathways of apoptosis involved through caspase activity.

The ability of local anesthetics to induce chondrocyte death through apoptosis has previously been demonstrated (Breu, Rosenmeier, et al., 2013; Çevik et al., 2018; Grishko et al., 2010). However, studies on whether this chondrotoxicity is through the intrinsic or extrinsic pathways of apoptosis are limited. In the second chapter, bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine all induced apoptosis as demonstrated by increased caspase-3 activity compared to the control. Although only bupivacaine (P < 0.001) and levobupivacaine (P = 0.03) caused a significant increase, ropivacaine also markedly increased caspase-3 activity (P = 0.06) compared to the control (Fig. 9) showing that it had induced apoptosis to a lesser degree than bupivacaine and levobupivacaine. Caspase-8 and caspase-9 activity were evaluated to further assess whether apoptosis was induced through the extrinsic or intrinsic pathways, respectively. Their level of activation was dependent on the type of local anesthetic, as only bupivacaine significantly increased caspase-8 and caspase-9 activity compared to the control (P < 0.001); and it also caused the highest increase in their activity compared to levobupivacaine (P < 0.001) and ropivacaine (P < 0.001). Levobupivacaine appeared to moderately increase caspase-9 activity, but this effect was not statistically different compared to the control (P = 0.130) or to ropivacaine (P = 0.402). Grishko et al. (2010) showed that lidocaine, bupivacaine and ropivacaine induced apoptosis and mitochondrial damage in human chondrocytes through caspase-3 and caspase-9 cleavage in a drug-type dependent manner (Grishko et al., 2010). Similarly, Tian and Li demonstrated that lidocaine, bupivacaine and ropivacaine all upregulated caspase-3 and caspase-9 activity in human chondrocytes (Tian & Li, 2016). Both of these studies used much higher concentrations of ropivacaine (0.2. 0.5, and 0.75%) which could have induced a much higher response in caspase activity compared to the findings of the current study. Additionally, both studies used western blot to evaluate caspase activity, which was likely more sensitive in detecting caspase activation compared the method used in our analyses. Therefore, these differences in the effect of ropivacaine on caspase activity were likely due to variations in the experimental conditions and types of analyses used between the current and previous studies. Previous information on the effects of levobupivacaine on caspase-3 and caspase-9 activation is however limited. In the present study, bupivacaine significantly increased caspase-8 activity (P < 0.001), unlike levobupivacaine (P = 0.974) and ropivacaine (P = 0.986) whose levels were similar to the control. This was an interesting finding as it was hypothesized at the beginning of the study that all three local anesthetics used in the second chapter would induce apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway and therefore upregulate caspase-9 activity. Studies on the effects of local anesthetics, particularly levobupivacaine and ropivacaine, on caspase-8 activity in canine articular chondrocytes are limited. However, similar to our findings, a previous study demonstrated that bupivacaine could activate caspase-3, caspase-8, and caspase-9 in a human leukemia cell line (Unami et al., 2003). This effect of bupivacaine on caspase-8 activation demonstrates that it is able to activate both the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways of apoptosis. It is also important to note that apart from directly activating caspase-3, caspase-8 also activates proteins that mediate mitochondrial apoptosis and subsequently activate caspase-9 (Kantari & Walczak, 2011; Tummers & Green, 2017), thereby inducing the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. As such, there is also a possibility of crossinteraction between intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis through caspase-8 activity in this case. This effect of bupivacaine on caspase activation in the present study demonstrated that the specific pathways of apoptosis activated, and the level of caspase activation may be dependent on the type of local anesthetic used to treat the cells.

To assess whether caspase inhibition would suppress local anesthetic-induced chondrotoxicity, caspase-3, caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibitors were used for each local anesthetic. Inhibition of all three caspases did not affect bupivacaine chondrotoxicity although the cell viability relatively increased compared to the treatment without the inhibitors. With the CCK-8 assay (**Fig. 11**), there was a significant difference in cell viability between the bupivacaine only treatment and the treatment with the caspase-9 inhibitor (P = 0.013). However, there was still a substantial decrease in chondrocyte viability compared to the control (P < 0.001) even after treatment with the inhibitors. Inhibition of caspase-8 and caspase-9

moderately suppressed levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity with the MTT assay (Fig. 10), but not with the CCK-8 assay (Fig. 11). Nonetheless, caspase inhibition did not completely suppress levobupivacaine chondrotoxicity compared to the control. With severe cellular damage, local anesthetics can induce necrosis, which is irreversible and cannot be blocked (Eduardo et al., 2018), unlike apoptosis which is reversible (Pountos & Giannoudis, 2017). Therefore, these findings could have resulted from bupivacaine and levobupivacaine activating other cell death pathways, such as necrosis, in addition to apoptosis. Ropivacaine was the most responsive to caspase inhibition, with a marked increase in cell viability following caspase-8 and caspas-9 inhibition with both the MTT and CCK-8 assays. Because of its lower cytotoxic potential, it is likely that ropivacaine chondrotoxicity was reversible because it did not cause severe cell damage compared to bupivacaine and levobupivacaine. Inhibition of caspase-3 did not have a marked effect on any of the local anesthetics. Although caspase-3 is the most well characterised effector caspase, other effector caspases including caspase-6 and caspase-7 are also involved in the process of apoptosis (Kiraz et al., 2016; Parrish et al., 2013). Therefore, inhibition of one effector caspase may not have been enough to block other cell death mediators activated by the initiator caspases (caspase-8 and caspase-9). Surprisingly, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine responded to both caspase-8 and caspase-9 inhibition although they did not significantly increase caspase-8 and caspase-9 activity. This suggests that caspase-8 and caspase-9 could be involved in levobupivacaine and ropivacaine chondrotoxicity. However, the colorimetric assays used in the present study may have not been sensitive enough to detect their activation. As such, the experimental design was a limitation for this study. While we were able to show the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on chondrocyte viability and caspase activity, apoptosis is a complex process that involves multiple pathways and mediators that were not included in the present study. As such, further investigations are warranted to clarify the biomolecular mechanisms involved in the outcomes observed in this chapter.

The differences between the effects of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine on caspase activity observed in the second chapter of the present thesis could have been as a result of the differences in their 3-dimensional (3-D) structures. Commercially available bupivacaine is a racemic mixture of dextrorotatory (R+) and levorotatory (S-) stereoisomers; and levobupivacaine is the pure levorotatory enantiomer of bupivacaine (Casati & Baciarello, 2008). Ropivacaine is a derivative of bupivacaine and is also available as the pure S(-)enantiomer of propivacaine (Casati & Baciarello, 2008; Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011). Although the three local anesthetics are structurally similar, significant differences can exist in their interaction with biological receptors, due to differences in spatial configuration, resulting in levobupivacaine and ropivacaine having less cytotoxic effects than bupivacaine (Casati & Putzu, 2005; Leone et al., 2008). Administration of a racemate like bupivacaine can give rise to a range of diverse effects, depending on the pharmacological profile of each enantiomer and its distribution and metabolism (McLeod & Burke, 2001). The biological properties of enantiomers can differ because of interaction with chiral endogenous molecules constituting proteins such as receptors and enzymes (Tucker, 2000). Therefore, while the two enantiomers are exactly similar in physicochemical properties, they can have different affinity for the site of action or the side effects (Athar et al., 2016). Because of this, pure S(-)-enantiomers such as ropivacaine and levobupivacaine are less toxic in comparison to the R(+)-enantiomer or racemic mixtures (Casati & Putzu, 2005; Leone et al., 2008). Therefore, in this case, bupivacaine may have been able to interact with both mitochondrial and plasma membrane cell death receptors and caused more severe cellular damage compared to levobupivacaine and ropivacaine as a result of differences in their conformation.

In conclusion, the findings in the present chapter demonstrated that local anesthetics induce apoptosis through both the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. The type of caspase activated, and the level of caspase activation is dependent on the type of local anesthetic used. Bupivacaine was the most chondrotoxic local anesthetic for all the assays used, followed by levobupivacaine and ropivacaine was the least chondrotoxic. These findings suggest that ropivacaine may be safer for intra-articular administration compared to bupivacaine and levobupivacaine during clinical applications. Further studies are required to investigate the specific mechanisms involved in the effects of local anesthetics on apoptosis induction and regulation.

### 4. General discussion

Although local anesthetics have been used widely for decades, the interaction of local anesthetics with cellular function is a more recent focus of study (Gordon et al., 2010). Local anesthetics play a unique role in clinical pain management and are a potent drug of choice that can be used for both unimodal and multimodal analgesic protocols, as an alternative or adjunct for general anesthetics and systemic analgesics. This is because they can be directly applied to a specific area of interest and exert clinical effects without the need for systemic administration. As a result, they can be used to induce analgesia within a targeted and/or restricted part or region of the body. Additionally, when used as adjuvants, their localised administration reduces the frequency and dosage of other systemic analgesic drugs required for adequate pain management (Borer, 2006). This decreases the likelihood of unwanted adverse- or side-effects associated with systemic administration of drugs such as opioids and anti-inflammatory drugs (Borer, 2006; Grubb & Lobprise, 2020b). Furthermore, local anesthetics are widely considered safe, with adverse events generally limited to very high doses or inadvertent IV administration such as those associated with bupivacaine (Epstein et al., 2015). These properties make local anesthetics an important part of day-to-day procedures and interventions in both human and veterinary clinical practice.

In chapter 1, the chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations was assessed by evaluating its effect on canine articular chondrocyte viability. Bupivacaine was selected because it is one of the most commonly used local anesthetics in both human and veterinary patients and it is generally known to be the most chondrotoxic local anesthetic (Holder et al., 2022; Kreuz et al., 2018). Intra-articular bupivacaine administration is a highly popular but increasingly controversial practice in veterinary and human orthopedics, particularly joint surgery (Barry et al., 2015). While the findings showed that bupivacaine was chondrotoxic at low concentrations, these findings were an estimate of its effects and not an exact reflection of

how it would affect articular chondrocytes under in vivo conditions. This is because in addition to chondrocytes, joint structures are made up of multiple cell and tissue types that have complex interactions and can affect the metabolism of drugs within the joint. Chondrocytes are the sole constituent cell of articular cartilage and they are responsible for the synthesis and turnover of the cartilage extracellular matrix (ECM) in which they are embedded (Archer & Francis-West, 2003; Lin et al., 2006). Nutrition of the articular cartilage occurs by diffusion from the synovial fluid through the matrix (Bhosale & Richardson, 2008; Sophia Fox et al., 2009). Therefore, several factors such as drug dispersion through joint tissues, rate of diffusion and clearance of synovial fluid from the joint, viscosity and protein content of the synovial fluid and metabolic processes of surrounding cells and tissues can affect how chondrocytes respond to local anesthetics. Also, it has been demonstrated that analgesia from intra-articular bupivacaine can last up to 6 hr in dogs (Hoelzler et al., 2005), which is a longer period than it takes for the drug to be cleared from the synovial fluid (Barry et al., 2015) following intra-articular injection. It is therefore possible that the local anesthetic drug can persist within the intracellular space long after the drug has been cleared from the joint space and continue exerting cytotoxic effects for an extended period of time. Additionally, commercial preparations of local anesthetics contain additives such preservatives and adjuvants that can potentially affect chondrocyte viability and could not be accounted for in the experimental design used in the first chapter. However, the study was used to investigate whether bupivacaine treatments similar to synovial fluid concentrations would still have chondrotoxic effects, because studies on its chondrotoxicity typically involve cell cultures incubated in solutions containing high bupivacaine concentrations for long durations (Barry et al., 2015). Therefore, the findings in chapter 1 established that low concentrations were chondrotoxic, especially with prolonged exposure.

After determining, the *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of bupivacaine at low concentrations, chapter 2 assessed the comparative chondrotoxic effects of bupivacaine and its two analogues,

levobupivacaine and ropivacaine. This was done to evaluate whether the level of levobupivacaine and ropivacaine chondrotoxicity would be similar to that of bupivacaine at the same concentration and period of exposure. Since bupivacaine has been shown to have an unsatisfactory safety profile, the development of levobupivacaine and ropivacaine was prompted by the need for a wider safety margin, while preserving the desirable pharmacodynamic properties of bupivacaine (Casati & Baciarello, 2008). They both have a clinical profile similar to that of racemic bupivacaine, and the minimal differences reported between the three anesthetics are mainly related to the slightly different anesthetic potency, with racemic bupivacaine > levobupivacaine > ropivacaine (Leone et al., 2008). Therefore, comparing their effects both in vitro and in vivo is helpful in deciding which drug can be most effective in pain management while having the least probability of inducing adverse effects. The three local anesthetics had differential effects on chondrocyte viability and caspase activity. This was attributed to the differences in the spatial conformation of commercially available preparations of bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine. Bupivacaine exists in two enantiomers, which are mirror images of each other (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). Although structurally identical, enantiomers can exhibit clinical differences including potency and adverse effects (Taylor & McLeod, 2020). This is important because levorotatory (S-) isomers have less potential for systemic toxicity than the dextrorotatory ones (Casati & Putzu, 2005). Therefore, levobupivacaine, the S(-)-isomer of bupivacaine; and ropivacaine, the S(-)-isomer of 1-propyl-2',6'-pipecoloxylidide (the propyl homolog of bupivacaine) are potentially less toxic alternatives to bupivacaine (Stewart et al., 2003). The spatial conformation of local anesthetics may affect the interaction of a molecule with its receptors, determining a greater affinity to certain subtypes compared to others (Casati & Baciarello, 2008). Additionally, ropivacaine's propyl group gives it a lower lipid solubility which results in decreased potential for cytotoxicity (Kuthiala & Chaudhary, 2011; Taylor & McLeod, 2020).

The studies performed as part of the present dissertation were *in vitro* models using cultured chondrocytes; therefore, the experimental conditions were not the same as those of a normal diarthrodial joint in terms of structure and physiology. This may have therefore affected chondrocyte response to treatment with the local anesthetics. As such, *in vivo* clinical studies to clarify the clinical implications of local anesthetic chondrotoxicity and how these adverse effects can be managed are warranted. Additional studies on the synovial fluid concentrations of local anesthetics following intra-articular injection are also necessary to evaluate the minimum amount of drugs required to induce nociception and determine the margin of safety. Additionally, *in vivo* studies would be required to determine safe anesthetic and analgesic protocols involving intra-articular local anesthetics while maintaining clinical efficacy. Further studies to investigate the biomolecular processes involved in local anesthetic chondrotoxicity are also warranted.

In conclusion, the *in vitro* chondrotoxicity of local anesthetics in cultured canine articular chondrocytes was dependent on the time of exposure, the concentration of the drug and the type of local anesthetic that the chondrocytes were exposed to in culture. Additionally local anesthetics were able to activate both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis in a drug-dependent manner. These findings showed that the level of toxicity and the cell death pathways induced by local anesthetics are dependent on the type of drug. Of the three local anesthetics evaluated, bupivacaine was the most chondrotoxic followed by levobupivacaine, and ropivacaine was the least chondrotoxic. As such, ropivacaine may be a safer choice for intra-articular local anesthesia in clinical applications compared to bupivacaine and levobupivacaine.

### 5. Acknowledgements

The studies included as part of this dissertation were all performed at the Laboratory of Veterinary Surgery, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, during the years 2019-2023.

I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, Professor Masahiro Okumura for his continuous support and guidance during my PhD study. Thank you for giving me the opportunity to pursue my studies at the Laboratory of Veterinary Surgery, and for the knowledge and motivation that you have provided during the research period, and for your guidance during the preparations of my thesis and dissertation.

I would also like to acknowledge Assistant Professor Takafumi Sunaga and Assistant Professor Sangho Kim for their contributions towards my research. Thank you for the guidance and advise you offered based on your research and professional experience, and for being helpful in acquiring resources and materials that were necessary to conduct my studies.

I would also like to give special thanks to my laboratory colleague, Dr. Yanlin Wang, and my senior colleague, Dr. Ekkapol Akaraphutiporn, for devoting their time to helping me with the research and for offering me technical support at the beginning of my PhD and throughout my study period. I am also grateful to the rest of the current and old members of the Laboratory of Veterinary Surgery, including Mika Sumita and Nanami Maeda who were very helpful and supportive during the day-to-day activities of the PhD Programme.

I am sincerely grateful to Dr. Eugene Bwalya (Clinical Studies Department, Samora Machel School of Veterinary Medicine, University of Zambia, Lusaka, Zambia) and to Dr. Suranji Wijekoon (Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine & Animal Science, University of Peradeniya, Peradeniya, 20400, Sri Lanka) for being gracious in offering advice during my experiments and in the preparation of my manuscripts.

56

I sincerely appreciate my quality examiners, Professor Takashi Kimura (Laboratory of Comparative Pathology, Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University) and Associate Professor Jun Tamura (Hokkaido University Veterinary Hospital) together with Professor Masahiro Okumura and Assistant Professor Takafumi Sunaga for their valuable advice and for helping me in refining and improving my thesis through their comments, suggestions, and recommendations.

During my PhD I was supported through the Monbukagakusho scholarship by the Japanese Government, Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT). I am grateful for the financial support during my study period. I am also grateful to the World-leading Innovative and Smart Education (WISE) programme and members of the WISE office for their academic, technical, and financial support during their specialised activities.

I am eternally grateful to my family for always believing in me and encouraging me in pursuing my goals and dreams. Thank you to my parents, sisters, and brother for always having confidence in me. Last but not least I am grateful to my husband, Dr. Chanda Mwamba for your continuous support and encouragement during my study period.

### 6. References

- Adler, D. M. T., Damborg, P., & Verwilghen, D. R. (2017). The antimicrobial activity of bupivacaine, lidocaine and mepivacaine against equine pathogens: An investigation of 40 bacterial isolates. *Veterinary Journal*, 223, 27–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.05.001
- Adler, D. M. T., Frellesen, J. F., Karlsen, C. V., Jensen, L. D., Dahm, A. S. Q., & Berg, L. C. (2021). Evaluation of the in vitro effects of local anesthetics on equine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 82(6), 478–486. https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.82.6.478
- Archer, C. W., & Francis-West, P. (2003). The chondrocyte. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 35(4), 401–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1357-2725(02)00301-1
- Athar, M., Ahmed, S., Ali, S., & Siddiqi, O. (2016). Levobupivacaine: A safer alternative. *Journal of Current Research in Scientific Medicine*, 2(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.4103/2455-3069.184114
- Baker, J. F., Walsh, P. M., Byrne, D. P., & Mulhall, K. J. (2011). In vitro assessment of human chondrocyte viability after treatment with local anaesthetic, magnesium sulphate or normal saline. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 19(6), 1043–1046. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-011-1437-9
- Barletta, M., & Reed, R. (2019). Local Anesthetics: Pharmacology and Special Preparations. *Veterinary Clinics of North America - Small Animal Practice*, 49(6), 1109–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2019.07.004
- Barry, S. L., Martinez, S. A., Davies, N. M., Remsberg, C. M., Sayre, C. L., & Bachelez, A.
  (2015). Synovial fluid bupivacaine concentrations following single intra-articular injection in normal and osteoarthritic canine stifles. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology*

and Therapeutics, 38(1), 97-100. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvp.12158

- Becerra, J., Andrades, J. A., Guerado, E., Zamora-Navas, P., López-Puertas, J. M., & Reddi,
  A. H. (2010). Articular cartilage: Structure and regeneration. *Tissue Engineering Part B: Reviews*, 16(6), 617–627. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.teb.2010.0191
- Becker, D. E., & Reed, K. L. (2006). Essentials of local anesthetic pharmacology. Anesthesia Progress, 53(3), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.2344/0003-3006(2006)53[98:EOLAP]2.0.CO;2
- Becker, D. E., & Reed, K. L. (2012). Local anesthetics: review of pharmacological considerations. *Anesthesia Progress*, 59(2), 90–102. https://doi.org/10.2344/0003-3006-59.2.90
- Bhosale, A. M., & Richardson, J. B. (2008). Articular cartilage: Structure, injuries and review of management. *British Medical Bulletin*, 87(1), 77–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldn025
- Borer, K. (2006). Local analgesic techniques in small animals. *In Practice*, 28(4), 200–207. https://doi.org/10.1136/inpract.28.4.200
- Breu, A., Eckl, S., Zink, W., Kujat, R., & Angele, P. (2013). Cytotoxicity of local anesthetics on human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, 29(10), 1676–1684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2013.06.018
- Breu, A., Rosenmeier, K., Kujat, R., Angele, P., & Zink, W. (2013). The cytotoxicity of bupivacaine, ropivacaine, and mepivacaine on human chondrocytes and cartilage.
   Anesthesia and Analgesia, 117(2), 514–522.

https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.0b013e31829481ed

Breu, A., Scheidhammer, I., Kujat, R., Graf, B., & Angele, P. (2015). Local anesthetic cytotoxicity on human mesenchymal stem cells during chondrogenic differentiation. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 23(4), 937–945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-3312-y

- Brioschi, F. A., Gioeni, D., Lazzarini, E., Del Prete, G., Bronzo, V., Jacchetti, A., &
  Carotenuto, A. M. (2021). Clinical effects of preemptive intra-articular lidocaine,
  dexmedetomidine and lidocaine-dexmedetomidine administration in dogs undergoing
  arthroscopy. *Veterinary Journal*, 276(August), 105730.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2021.105730
- Busfield, B. T., & Romero, D. M. (2009). Pain Pump Use After Shoulder Arthroscopy As a Cause of Glenohumeral Chondrolysis. *Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, 25(6), 647–652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2009.01.019
- Campagnol, D., Teixeira-Neto, F. J., Monteiro, E. R., Restitutti, F., & Minto, B. W. (2012).
  Effect of intraperitoneal or incisional bupivacaine on pain and the analgesic requirement after ovariohysterectomy in dogs. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, *39*(4), 426–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2995.2012.00728.x
- Casati, A., & Baciarello, M. (2008). Enantiomeric Local Anesthetics: Can Ropivacaine and Levobupivacaine Improve Our Practice? *Current Drug Therapy*, 1(1), 85–89. https://doi.org/10.2174/157488506775268506
- Casati, A., & Putzu, M. (2005). Bupivacaine, levobupivacaine and ropivacaine: Are they clinically different? *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Anaesthesiology*, *19*(2 SPEC. ISS.), 247–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpa.2004.12.003
- Çevik, O., Gergin, Ö. Ö., Yildiz, K., Bayram, A., Canöz, Ö., Halici, M., Baran, M., Yay, A., & Polat, S. (2018). The chondrotoxic and apoptotic effects of levobupivacaine and bupivacaine on the rabbit knee joint. *Brazilian Journal of Anesthesiology (English Edition)*, 68(6), 605–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjane.2018.06.008
- Chen, Q., Gao, Y., Kao, X. Bin, Chen, J. H., Xue, W. L., Xiong, Y. M., & Wang, Z. L. (2012). SNP-induced apoptosis may be mediated with caspase inhibitor by JNK

signaling pathways in rabbit articular chondrocytes. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, *37*(1), 157–167. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.37.157

- Chiu, Y. S., Cheng, Y. H., Lin, S. W., Chang, T. S., Liou, C. J., & Lai, Y. S. (2015).
  Bupivacaine induces apoptosis through caspase-dependent and -independent pathways in canine mammary tumor cells. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *100*, 232–238.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2015.03.024
- Chu, C. R., Coyle, C. H., Chu, C. T., Szczodry, M., Seshadri, V., Karpie, J. C., Cieslak, K.
  M., & Pringle, E. K. (2010). In vivo effects of single intra-articular injection of 0.5%
  bupivacaine on articular cartilage. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 92(3), 599–608.
  https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.I.00425
- Chu, C. R., Izzo, N. J., Coyle, C. H., Papas, N. E., & Logar, A. (2008). The in vitro effects of bupivacaine on articular chondrocytes. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery - Series B*, 90(6), 814–820. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.90B6.20079
- Chu, C. R., Izzo, N. J., Papas, N. E., & Fu, F. H. (2006). In Vitro Exposure to 0.5%
  Bupivacaine Is Cytotoxic to Bovine Articular Chondrocytes. *Arthroscopy Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, 22(7), 693–699.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2006.05.006
- Cobo-Molinos, J., Poncela-Garcia, M., Marchal-Corrales, J. A., & Delgado-Martinez, A. D. (2014). Effect of levobupivacaine on articular chondrocytes: An in-vitro investigation. *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, *31*(11), 635–639. https://doi.org/10.1097/EJA.00000000000115
- Cox, B., Durieux, M. E., & Marcus, M. A. E. (2003). Toxicity of local anaesthetics. Best Practice and Research: Clinical Anaesthesiology, 17(1), 111–136. https://doi.org/10.1053/bean.2003.0275

Di Salvo, A., Chiaradia, E., Nannarone, S., & della Rocca, G. (2021). Intra-articular use of

analgesic/antinflammatory drugs in dogs and horses. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *134*(December 2020), 159–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2020.12.014

- Dragoo, J. L., Braun, H. J., Kim, H. J., Phan, H. D., & Golish, S. R. (2012). The in vitro chondrotoxicity of single-dose local anesthetics. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(4), 794–799. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546511434571
- Dragoo, J. L., Korotkova, T., Kanwar, R., & Wood, B. (2008). The effect of local anesthetics administered via pain pump on chondrocyte viability. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36(8), 1484–1488. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546508318190
- Dregalla, R. C., Lyons, N. F., Reischling, P. D., & Centeno, C. J. (2014). Amide-Type Local Anesthetics and Human Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Clinical Implications for Stem Cell Therapy. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, *3*(3), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0058
- Dutton, T. A. G., Gurney, M. A., & Bright, S. R. (2014). Intra-articular mepivacaine reduces interventional analgesia requirements during arthroscopic surgery in dogs. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 55(8), 405–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsap.12232
- Eduardo, L., Ferreira, N., Hasan, D., Muniz, B. V., Burga-sánchez, J., Volpato, M. C., &
  Groppo, F. C. (2018). Effects of Local Anesthetics on Cellular Necrosis , Apoptosis and
  Inflammatory Modulation : Short Review. *Journal of Anesthesia and Clinical Research*,
  9(5), 826. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6148.1000826
- Epstein, M. E., Rodanm, I., Griffenhagen, G., Kadrlik, J., Petty, M. C., Robertson, S. A., & Simpson, W. (2015). 2015 AAHA/AAFP Pain Management Guidelines for Dogs and Cats. *Journal of Feline Medicine and Surgery*, *17*(3), 251–272. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098612X15572062
- Fortier, L. A., & Travis, A. J. (2011). Stem cells in veterinary medicine. *Stem Cell Research and Therapy*, 2(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/scrt50
- Gaesser, A. M., Varner, K. M., Douglas, H. F., Barr, C. A., Hopster, K., & Levine, D. G. (2020). The effect of intra-articular mepivacaine administration prior to carpal arthroscopy on anesthesia management and recovery characteristics in horses. *Veterinary Surgery*, 49(7), 1343–1349. https://doi.org/10.1111/vsu.13501
- Ghasemi, M., Turnbull, T., Sebastian, S., & Kempson, I. (2021). The mtt assay: Utility, limitations, pitfalls, and interpretation in bulk and single-cell analysis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(23). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312827
- Glaser, C., Marhofer, P., Zimpfer, G., Heinz, M. T., Sitzwohl, C., Kapral, S., & Schindler, I. (2002). Levobupivacaine versus racemic bupivacaine for spinal anesthesia. *Anesthesia* and Analgesia, 94(1), 194–198. https://doi.org/10.1213/00000539-200201000-00037
- Gomoll, A. H., Kang, R. W., Williams, J. M., Bach, B. R., & Cole, B. J. (2006). Chondrolysis After Continuous Intra-Articular Bupivacaine Infusion: An Experimental Model Investigating Chondrotoxicity in the Rabbit Shoulder. *Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, 22(8), 813–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2006.06.006
- Gordon, S. M., Mischenko, A. V., & Dionne, R. A. (2010). Long-Acting Local Anesthetics and Perioperative Pain Management. *Dental Clinics of North America*, 54(4), 611–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cden.2010.06.002
- Grishko, V. I., Ho, R., Wilson, G. L., & Pearsall IV, A. W. (2009). Diminished mitochondrial DNA integrity and repair capacity in OA chondrocytes. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, *17*(1), 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2008.05.009
- Grishko, V., Xu, M., Wilson, G., & Pearsall IV, A. W. (2010). Apoptosis and mitochondrial dysfunction in human chondrocytes following exposure to lidocaine, bupivacaine, and ropivacaine. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 92(3), 609–618. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.H.01847

- Grubb, T., & Lobprise, H. (2020a). Local and regional anaesthesia in dogs and cats:
   Descriptions of specific local and regional techniques (Part 2). *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 6(2), 218–234. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.218
- Grubb, T., & Lobprise, H. (2020b). Local and regional anaesthesia in dogs and cats:
  Overview of concepts and drugs (Part 1). *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 6(2), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.219
- Gungor, I., Yilmaz, A., Ozturk, A. M., Ergun, M. A., Menevse, S., & Kaya, K. (2014).
  Bupivacaine and levobupivacaine induce apoptosis in rat chondrocyte cell cultures at ultra-low doses. *European Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Traumatology*, 24(3), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00590-013-1202-5
- Gurney, M. A., Rysnik, M., Comerford, E. J., Cripps, P. J., & Iff, I. (2012). Intra-articular morphine, bupivacaine or no treatment for postoperative analgesia following unilateral elbow joint arthroscopy. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, *53*(7), 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.2012.01222.x
- Hoelzler, M. G., Harvey, R. C., Lidbetter, D. A., & Millis, D. L. (2005). Comparison of perioperative analgesic protocols for dogs undergoing tibial plateau leveling osteotomy. *Veterinary Surgery*, 34(4), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-950X.2005.00052.x
- Holder, E. K., Christolias, G., Saffarian, M., Patel, J., & Mccormick, Z. L. (2022).Chondrotoxicity : Which Local Anesthetics are Safest for Intraarticular Injection? *Spine Intervention Society, April.*
- Huser, C. A. M., Peacock, M., & Davies, M. E. (2006). Inhibition of caspase-9 reduces chondrocyte apoptosis and proteoglycan loss following mechanical trauma. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 14(10), 1002–1010.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2006.03.012

Irwin, W., Fontaine, E., Agnolucci, L., Penzo, D., Betto, R., Bortolotto, S., Reggiani, C.,

Salviati, G., & Bernardi, P. (2002). Bupivacaine myotoxicity is mediated by mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(14), 12221–12227. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108938200

- Jayaram, P., Kennedy, D. J., Yeh, P., & Dragoo, J. (2019). Chondrotoxic Effects of Local Anesthetics on Human Knee Articular Cartilage: A Systematic Review. *PM and R*, *11*(4), 379–400. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmrj.12007
- Johnson, M. E., Uhl, C. B., Spittler, K. H., Wang, H., & Gores, G. J. (2004). Mitochondrial injury and caspase activation by the local anesthetic lidocaine. *Anesthesiology*, 101(5), 1184–1194. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-200411000-00019
- Kaewpichit, P., Charuluxananan, S., Srisa-Art, M., Sisawat, S., Aksornkitti, V., Chayudsatid,
  C., & Sereemaspun, A. (2019). Cytotoxic responses of human chondrocytes to
  bupivacaine, levobupivacaine, and ropivacaine. *Asian Biomedicine*, *12*(4), 169–178.
  https://doi.org/10.1515/abm-2019-0017
- Kantari, C., & Walczak, H. (2011). Caspase-8 and Bid: Caught in the act between death receptors and mitochondria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research*, 1813(4), 558–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.026
- Karpie, J. C., & Chu, C. R. (2007). Lidocaine exhibits dose- and time-dependent cytotoxic effects on bovine articular chondrocytes in vitro. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 35(10), 1622–1627. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546507304719
- Kheir, E., & Shaw, D. (2009). Hyaline articular cartilage. *Orthopaedics and Trauma*, 23(6), 450–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mporth.2009.01.003
- Kiraz, Y., Adan, A., Kartal Yandim, M., & Baran, Y. (2016). Major apoptotic mechanisms and genes involved in apoptosis. *Tumor Biology*, 37(7), 8471–8486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13277-016-5035-9

Kreuz, P. C., Steinwachs, M., & Angele, P. (2018). Single-dose local anesthetics exhibit a

type-, dose-, and time-dependent chondrotoxic effect on chondrocytes and cartilage: a systematic review of the current literature. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, *26*(3), 819–830. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-017-4470-5

- Kubrova, E., Su, M., Galeano-Garces, C., Galvan, M. L., Jerez, S., Dietz, A. B., Smith, J., Qu, W., & Van Wijnen, A. J. (2021). Differences in Cytotoxicity of Lidocaine, Ropivacaine, and Bupivacaine on the Viability and Metabolic Activity of Human Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *American Journal of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *100*(1), 82–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHM.00000000001529
- Kürkçüoğlu, B. S., Dönmez, M., Altinel, S., Akinci, S. B., Saricaoğlu, F., & Aypar, Ü.
  (2014). Comparison of intraarticular bupivacaine and levobupivacaine injection in rat synovial inflammation. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 44(4), 540–545. https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-1302-32
- Kushnir, Y., Toledano, N., Cohen, L., Bdolah-Abram, T., & Shilo-Benjamini, Y. (2017).
   Intratesticular and incisional line infiltration with ropivacaine for castration in medetomidine–butorphanol–midazolam sedated dogs. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, 44(2), 346–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaa.2016.03.007
- Kuthiala, G., & Chaudhary, G. (2011). Ropivacaine: A review of its pharmacology and clinical use. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 55(2), 104–110. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5049.79875
- Lemke, K. A., & Dawson, S. D. (2000). Local and regional anesthesia. Veterinary Clinics of North America - Small Animal Practice, 30(4), 839–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-5616(08)70010-X
- Leone, S., Di Cianni, S., Casati, A., & Fanelli, G. (2008). Pharmacology, toxicology, and clinical use of new long acting local anesthetics, ropivacaine and levobupivacaine. *Acta Biomedica de l'Ateneo Parmense*, 79(2), 92–105.

- Lin, Z., Willers, C., Xu, J., & Zheng, M. H. (2006). The chondrocyte: Biology and clinical application. *Tissue Engineering*, 12(7), 1971–1984. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.2006.12.1971
- Lo, I. K. Y., Sciore, P., Chung, M., Liang, S., Boorman, R. B., Thornton, G. M., Rattner, J. B., & Muldrew, K. (2009). Local Anesthetics Induce Chondrocyte Death in Bovine Articular Cartilage Disks in a Dose- and Duration-Dependent Manner. *Arthroscopy Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, 25(7), 707–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2009.03.019
- Lotz, M., Hashimoto, S., & Kühn, K. (1999). Mechanisms of chondrocyte apoptosis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 7(4), 389–391. https://doi.org/10.1053/joca.1998.0220
- Lotz, M., Otsuki, S., Grogan, S., Sah, R., Terkeltaub, R., & D'Lima, D. (2010). Cartilage cell clusters. *Arthritis Rheum.*, 62(8), 2206–2218. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27528
- Maldonado, M., & Nam, J. (2013). The role of changes in extracellular matrix of cartilage in the presence of inflammation on the pathology of osteoarthritis. *BioMed Research International*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/284873
- Martin-Flores, M., Anderson, J. C., Sakai, D. M., Campoy, L., Cheong, S. H., Romano, M., & Gleed, R. D. (2019). A retrospective analysis of the epidural use of bupivacaine 0.0625-0.125% with opioids in bitches undergoing cesarean section. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 60(12), 1349–1352.
- Matsen, F. A., & Papadonikolakis, A. (2013). Published evidence demonstrating the causation of glenohumeral chondrolysis by postoperative infusion of local anesthetic via a pain pump. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 95(12), 1126–1134.
  https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.L.01104
- McFadzean, W. J. M., Macfarlane, P., Granger, N., & Murrell, J. C. (2021). Influence of periincisional epaxial muscle infiltration with bupivacaine pre- or post-surgery on opioid

administration in dogs undergoing thoraco-lumbar hemilaminectomy. *Veterinary Journal*, 270, 105622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2021.105622

McLeod, G. A., & Burke, D. (2001). Levobupivacaine. *Anaesthesia*, 56(4), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2044.2001.01964.x

Ni, Q., Chen, W., Tong, L., Cao, J., & Ji, C. (2016). Preparation of novel biodegradable ropivacaine microspheres and evaluation of their efficacy in sciatic nerve block in mice. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, *10*, 2499–2506. https://doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S110742

- Özcan, M. S., Kalem, M., Özçelik, M., Şahin, E., Çakar, S., Hayırlı, N., Evirgen, O., & Ökten, F. (2017). The effect of intra-articular levobupivacaine on shoulder cartilage at different doses—experimental study. *Brazilian Journal of Anesthesiology (English Edition)*, 67(1), 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjane.2015.08.008
- Park, J., Sutradhar, B. C., Hong, G., Choi, S. H., & Kim, G. (2011). Comparison of the cytotoxic effects of bupivacaine, lidocaine, and mepivacaine in equine articular chondrocytes. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, 38(2), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2995.2010.00590.x
- Parrish, A. B., Freel, C. D., & Kornbluth, S. (2013). Cellular Mechanisms Controlling
  Caspase Activation and Function. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 3(2), 311–312. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00005070
- Piper, S. L., & Kim, H. T. (2008). Comparison of ropivacaine and bupivacaine toxicity in human articular chondrocytes. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery - Series A*, 90(5), 986– 991. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.G.01033
- Piper, S. L., Kramer, J. D., Kim, H. T., & Feeley, B. T. (2011). Effects of local anesthetics on articular cartilage. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 39(10), 2245–2253. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546511402780

- Pountos, I., & Giannoudis, P. V. (2017). Modulation of cartilage's response to injury: Can chondrocyte apoptosis be reversed? *Injury*, 48(12), 2657–2669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2017.11.032
- Prządka, P., Buczak, K., Frejlich, E., Gąsior, L., Suliga, K., & Kiełbowicz, Z. (2021). The role of mesenchymal stem cells (Mscs) in veterinary medicine and their use in musculoskeletal disorders. *Biomolecules*, 11(8), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11081141
- Ravnihar, K., Marš, T., Pirkmajer, S., Alibegović, A., Koželj, G., Stožer, A., & Drobnič, M. (2021). The Influence of a Single Intra-Articular Lidocaine Injection on the Viability of Articular Cartilage in the Knee. *Cartilage*, *13*(1\_suppl), 456S-463S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947603520904759
- Rengert, R., Snider, D., & Gilbert, P. J. (2021). Effect of bupivacaine concentration and formulation on canine chondrocyte viability in vitro. *Veterinary Surgery*, *50*(3), 633–640. https://doi.org/10.1111/vsu.13590
- Sams, V. G., Lawson, C. M., Coan, P., Bemis, D., Newkirk, K., Karlstad, M., Norwood, J., Barlow, P., Goldman, M. H., & Daley, B. J. (2012). Effect of local anesthetic on microorganisms in a murine model of surgical site infection. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 73(2), 441–446. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e3182583e4f
- Sasaki, A., Mizuno, M., Mochizuki, M., & Sekiya, I. (2019). Mesenchymal stem cells for cartilage regeneration in dogs. *World Journal of Stem Cells*, 11(5), 254–269. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v11.i5.254
- Schumacher, J., & Boone, L. (2021). Local anaesthetics for regional and intra-articular analgesia in the horse. *Equine Veterinary Education*, 33(3), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/eve.13235

Sherman, S. L., Khazai, R. S., James, C. H., Stoker, A. M., Flood, D. L., & Cook, J. L.

(2015). In vitro toxicity of local anesthetics and corticosteroids on chondrocyte and synoviocyte viability and metabolism. *Cartilage*, *6*(4), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947603515594453

- Sophia Fox, A. J., Bedi, A., & Rodeo, S. A. (2009). The basic science of articular cartilage: Structure, composition, and function. *Sports Health*, 1(6), 461–468. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738109350438
- Stewart, J., Kellett, N., & Castro, D. (2003). The central nervous system and cardiovascular effects of levobupivacaine and ropivacaine in healthy volunteers. *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, 97(2), 412–416. https://doi.org/10.1213/01.ANE.0000069506.68137.F2
- Taylor, A., & McLeod, G. (2020). Basic pharmacology of local anaesthetics. BJA Education, 20(2), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjae.2019.10.002
- Thomson, R., Trimble, T., Pawson, P., & Bell, A. M. (2021). A Survey-Based Study Into the Use of Peripheral Nerve Blocks for Pelvic Limb Surgery Among Veterinary Professionals With an Interest in Anesthesia. *Topics in Companion Animal Medicine*, 42(May 2017), 100507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcam.2020.100507
- Tian, J., & Li, Y. (2016). Comparative effects of vitamin C on the effects of local anesthetics ropivacaine, bupivacaine, and lidocaine on human chondrocytes. *Brazilian Journal of Anesthesiology (English Edition)*, 66(1), 29–36.
  - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjane.2015.01.006
- Tucker, G. T. (2000). Ropivacaine-chemistry, safety pharmacology and pharmacokinetics. *Journal of Japan Society of Pain Clinicians*, 7(1), 1–6.
- Tummers, B., & Green, D. R. (2017). Caspase-8: regulating life and death. *Immunological Reviews*, 277(1), 76–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12541
- Unami, A., Shinohara, Y., Ichikawa, T., & Baba, Y. (2003). Biochemical and microarray analyses of bupivacaine-induced apoptosis. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, 28(2),

77-94. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.28.77

Van Vynckt, D., Samoy, Y., Mosselmans, L., Verhoeven, G., Verschooten, F., & Van Ryssen,
B. (2012). The use of intra-articular anesthesia as a diagnostic tool in canine lameness. *Vlaams Diergeneeskundig Tijdschrift*, 81(5), 290–297.

https://doi.org/10.21825/vdt.v81i5.18328

- Van Vynckt, D., Verhoeven, G., Saunders, J., Polis, I., Samoy, Y., Verschooten, F., & Van Ryssen, B. (2012). Diagnostic intra-articular anaesthesia of the elbow in dogs with medial coronoid disease. *Veterinary and Comparative Orthopaedics and Traumatology*, 25(4), 307–313. https://doi.org/10.3415/VCOT-11-11-0166
- Werdehausen, R., Braun, S., Essmann, F., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Walczak, H., Lipfert, P., & Stevens, M. F. (2007). Lidocaine induces apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway independently of death receptor signaling. *Anesthesiology*, *107*(1), 136–143. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.anes.0000268389.39436.66
- Zhang, A. Z., Ficklscherer, A., Gülecyüz, M. F., Paulus, A. C., Niethammer, T. R., Jansson, V., & Müller, P. E. (2017). Cell Toxicity in Fibroblasts, Tenocytes, and Human
  Mesenchymal Stem Cells—A Comparison of Necrosis and Apoptosis-Inducing Ability in Ropivacaine, Bupivacaine, and Triamcinolone. *Arthroscopy Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery*, *33*(4), 840–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2016.10.026
- Zheng, L., Zhang, Z., Sheng, P., & Mobasheri, A. (2021). The role of metabolism in chondrocyte dysfunction and the progression of osteoarthritis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 66(December), 101249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2020.101249